
Northern Inyo Hospital

March 15 2017 Regular Meeting
March 15 2017 Regular Meeting - March 15 2017 Regular Meeting

Agenda, March 15 2017 Regular Meeting

Agenda, March 15 2017 Regular Meeting

BUHS School Clinic

Letter of Support, NIHD Providers
Witness to Life Information

Nursing Department Policy and Procedure Approvals

Nursing Department Policies and Procedures

Policy and Procedure Annual Approvals (Attachment A)

Policy and Procedure Annual Approvals (Attachment A)

General Budget Assumptions for 2017/2018 Fiscal Year

General Budget Assumptions for 2017/2018 Fiscal Year

Request for Proposal (RFP) Policy and Procedure

Request for Proposal (RFP) Policy and Procedure
RFP Process Map

Purchase of Kamei and Hathaway Partnership Interest

Purchase of Kamei and Hathaway Partnership Interest

Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy

Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy

Consent Agenda

Minutes, February 15 2017 Regular Meeting
2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring
Financial and Statistical Reports for the Period Ending January 31, 2017

Chief of Staff Report

Chief of Staff Report, March 2017
Chief of Staff Policy and Procedure Approvals

Stryker Orthopedic Supply Contract

Stryker Orthopedic Supply Contract

..................................................................2

...........................................................................15
......................................................................................17

.......................................................37

.....................................59

......................................69

................................................70
....................................................................................................105

......................................106

.......................................................................180

.........................................................183
...............................................................190

........195

..........................................................................203
....................................................204

.....................................................................294

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

1

http://www.tcpdf.org


2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



2017-2018 General Budget Assumptions 
 
 
Federal Regulations: 
 
Changes to the ACA will not be included in the department budgets. The extension of the waiver of the 
ACA non-conforming plan provisions will be recognized. 
 
State Regulations: 
 
The IGT (Intergovernmental Transfers) will be included for the California year of 2015-2016 in the 2nd 
Quarter and the California year of 2016-2017 in the 4th Quarter. The State fee of 20% will be accessed 
during Fiscal 2017-18 and expensed accordingly.  The Health Plan(s) fee of 2% will be expensed 
accordingly. 
 
The percentage of Medicaid patients using Managed Medical will be the same as in 2016-2017. 
 
Facility Conditions: 
 
There are (or are not) construction projects which will impact the availability of services in 2017-2018.  
Equipment installations (To Be Determined during the Capital recommendation process. 
 
Cost of Care Considerations: 
 
Drugs are expected to increase 7 %, medical supplies are expected to increase 3%, food costs are 
projected to increase 3%, IT services are expected to have no increase, salaries are expected to increase    
as recommended and to include the California minimum wage.  The percentage of employee salaries to 
be covered by the 401A plan will increase to 30% for the fiscal year.  
 
Other Considerations: 
 
The RHC provider staff will be stable for the year.  The provider staff of the NIH clinic will be stable for 
the year.  Non-provider staff turnover is expected to be higher than in 2016-2017 at 20% with a request 
for additional coders to be added.  Changes in Occupational Health, Urgent Care and Telehealth will be 
reviewed during the budget process. 
 
 
Cash Flow & Capital Acquisition: 
 
Annual depreciation for 2017-2018 is projected to be $4,224,900 before any capital acquisitions.  
Principal payments of $2,048,211 will be required.  Accrued interest on the 2009 Bonds will increase by 
$1,772,866 and will generate cash-flow. 
 
 
 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



Request For Proposal (RFP) Process Map-Annotated

Decision to Pursue RFP

Select RFP Team & 
Kickoff Meeting

Create RFP timeline 
& complete project 

charter

Develop/revise 
organizational 

profile1 in context of 
RFP

Document current 
state of processes, 

systems, technology 
related to RFP

Determine 
organizational 

priorities related to 
RFP

PLANNING
PHASE

1. RFP Team Roster
2. RFP Eval. Comm. 
Confidentiality & COI Form

1. Project Charter & 
Project Mgmt. 
documents
2. Section 2-RFP

1. Deliverables from 
content area experts
2. Section 3-RFP

Strategic 
Commmunications 

may have 
information

Created by: Maria Sirois, CPEO
Revised 3/4/17

PREPARATION
PHASE Finalize 

organizational 
profile1 for RFP

Important Notes:
1. The Organizational Profile describes the mission, environmental and 
organizational forces driving the need for the RFP/procured services.
2. The team and/or CEO are not obligated to select any of the proposers 
and may state such in their recommendations and re-issue the RFP at a 
later date.
3. If a mutually acceptable agreement cannot be reached by NIHD and 
selected proposer, NIHD may select other proposers, re-issue the RFP, or 
end the RFP outright.

Describe business 
requirements & 
organizational 

constraints

Develop evaluation 
criteria based on 

org. priorities

1. Evaluation Matrix
2. Evaluator Rating 
Sheets
3. Section 4/5-RFP

Draft RFP w/
submission 
instructions

Assemble RFP 
Bidder’s Package

RFP Draft
RFP Draft + Forms or 
Other Documents

REVIEW & 
APPROVAL

PHASE
RFP team reviews & 
revises RFP Bidder’s 

package
CEO Review CEO Approval

NO

YES

DISTRIBUTION & 
SUPPORT PHASE

Distribute bidder’s 
packets

Scope of Services/
Product Specifications/
features Excel 
worksheet

Determine proposer 
documents needed 

& questions/
sections for RFP

Section 4/5-RFP

Section 3-RFP

Section 3-RFPSection 4/5-RFP

Pre-solicitation 
Advertising

Advertisements
(Resource: Strategic 
Communications)

Bidder’s FAQs 
answered & 

Addenda distributed

Bidder’s packets
Addenda & website 
posting of addenda

RFP Bidder’s packets 
due

1. RFP responses
2. Addenda 
Acknowledgement
3. Proposer COI & 
Confidentiality Form
4. Completed RFP Package 
Receipt forms

 EVALUATION & 
VENDOR SELECTION 

PHASE
Evaluator 

Independent Review

Completed Evaluator 
Rating Sheets

Vendor 
Presentations/

Reference Checks/ 
Testimonials

Team Review and 
Recommendation 

Report2

1. Updated Evaluator 
Rating Sheets
2. Combined Rating Sheet
3. Overall Scores by 
Proposer
4. Evaluation Synopsis & 
Recommendations Report

CEO Review and 
Decision

Email from CEO of 
decision

Notify proposers of 
preliminary award 
decision & post to 

website

Notice of 
Preliminary Award

RFP process ends & 
contract negotiation begins

105



CA BRETTON, MAI 
106



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C A  B R E T T O N ,  M A I  

APPRAISAL REPORT 
 

OF 
 

 
 

152 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 

 
 

PROPERTY TYPE 
On-Campus Medical Office Building 

 
 

DATE OF VALUE 
January 19, 2017 

 
 

PREPARED FOR 
Mr. Kevin S. Flanigan, MD MBA 

CEO 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, CA 93514 

 
 
 

PREPARED BY 
Cheryl Bretton, MAI 

P.O. Box 100 PMB 466 
Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

 
 
 
 

107



C H E R Y L  B R E T T O N ,  M A I  
 

M a m m o t h  L a k e s ,  C a l i f o r n i a  

P.O. Box 100 PMB 466 
Mammoth Lakes, California  93546 

 

 

January 19, 2017 
 
Mr. Kevin S. Flanigan, MD MBA 
CEO 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, CA 93514 
 
RE:  152 Pioneer Lane 

Bishop, California 
 
Dear Dr. Flanigan: 
 

I have completed an appraisal of the market value in the referenced property.  The Fee 
Simple Interest in the property is presented first, followed by a discussion and valuation of 
a 33.474% partial interest. My analysis is presented in the following Appraisal Report. 

The Subject is an on-campus medical office building (MOB) located northwest of 
Northern Inyo Hospital (NIH). The purpose of the appraisal is to estimate the market value 
of the Fee Simple Estate and a 33.474% partial interest.  Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
intends to use this appraisal as an aid in negotiating a partnership buy-out. 

Based on the analysis contained in the following report, the market value of the Subject 
is concluded in the accompanying table. 

 

OPINION OF MARKET VALUE
Appraisal Premise Interest Appraised Date of Value Value Conclusion

Market Value "As Is" 33.474% Partial Interest January 19, 2017 790,000$               
  

 

It has been a pleasure to assist you in this assignment.  If you have any questions 
concerning the analysis, or if I can be of further service, please contact me. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

  

Cheryl A. Bretton, MAI   
CA State Certification No. AG023954   
Expires: October 14, 2018   
   

108



                                                                           CERTIFICATION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 4  

CERTIFICATION 
I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions are my personal, impartial and unbiased professional 
analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

3. I have no present or prospective interest in or bias with respect to the property that is the 
subject of this report and have no personal interest in or bias with respect to the parties 
involved with this assignment. 

4. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties 
involved with this assignment. 

5. My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 

6. My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development 
or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the 
client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the 
occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal, 
such as the approval of a loan. 

7. This appraisal assignment was not based upon a requested minimum valuation, a specific 
valuation, or the approval of a loan. 

8. My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of 
The Appraisal Foundation and the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and the 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute.   

9. I made a personal inspection of the exterior of the property that is the Subject of this report.   

10. No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this 
report.  

11. I am currently certified in the state where the Subject is located. 

12. I have performed no services as an appraiser or in any other  
capacity, regarding the property that is the subject of this report within the  
three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment 

13. I am a designated member of the Appraisal Institute. The    Appraisal Institute conducts a 
voluntary program of continuing education for its designated members.  Designated 
members who meet the minimum standards of this program are awarded periodic 
education certification.  As of the date of this report, I, Cheryl Bretton, have completed 
the requirements of the continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. 

 
Cheryl  Bretton, MAI 
CA State Certification No. AG023954 
Expires: October 14, 2018 
Dated: January 19, 2017 

109



 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 5  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
CERTIFICATION ............................................................................................................................ 4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ................................................................................................................... 5 

SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS ..................................................................................................... 6 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................ 7 

COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS ................................................................................... 11 

APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY .................................................................................................... 17 

SITE DATA ................................................................................................................................... 18 

BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS/LAYOUT ......................................................................................... 20 

BUILDING SKETCH ...................................................................................................................... 22 

LAND USE RESTRICTIONS ........................................................................................................... 23 

TAX ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................................ 24 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS ............................................................................................ 25 

COST APPROACH ..................................................................................................................... 26 

LAND VALUATION ..................................................................................................................... 28 

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH ................................................................................... 36 

RECONCILIATION OF VALUE .................................................................................................... 46 

PARTIAL INTEREST VALUATION .................................................................................................. 48 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS ............................................................................ 50 

 

ADDENDA .................................................................................................................................. 56 

QUALIFICATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 57 

APPRAISER'S QUALIFICATIONS ................................................................................................. 58 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE MARKET DATA .............................................................................. 59 

COMPARABLE LEASE DATA ...................................................................................................... 70 

  

110



 SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 6  

SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS 

Location The Subject is located in the Owens Valley area of Inyo 
County, in the incorporated community of Bishop.  The 
street address 152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California 

Assessor’s Parcel Nos. 011-240-014 and 011-240-1404 

Owner of Record PTSP Pioneer Medical Association  / Kamei ASAO 

Site The Subject is located, on-campus, northwest of 
Northern Inyo Hospital on the east side of Pioneer Lane.  
The site is level; at street grade with 1.29 acres or, 56,192 
SF.  The Subject site is a single legal tax parcel with 140 
feet of secondary commercial exposure along Pioneer 
Lane.  

Improvements The site is improved with a 1986-built, free-standing 
wood-frame/stucco MOB with a gross building area of 
16,369 SF and a net leasable of 16,077 SF. The building 
was expanded in 1990 to eight medical suites with 
reception area, lobby, examination rooms, restrooms 
and physicians consultation offices. 

Existing Occupancy NIH occupies the majority of the building.   

GP / Zoning General Commercial /  C-1 General Commercial and 
Retail 

Highest and Best Use  

As If Vacant: Commercial development as market conditions 
dictates. 

As Improved: As Improved 

Date of Valuation January 19, 2017 

Dates of Inspection January 19, 2017 

Exposure Time Six (6) Months 

Property Rights Appraised Fee Simple Estate 

111



 INTRODUCTION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 7  

INTRODUCTION 
AERIAL AND STREET VIEW MAPS 
Figure 1: Aerial Plot Plan Showing Building Placement 

 
Figure 2: Street View Map 

 

112



 INTRODUCTION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 8  

DATE OF THE REPORT, INSPECTION, AND DATE OF VALUE 
The date of the report is the date on the letter of transmittal.  The date of the last 
inspection was January 19, 2017  (Only the exterior was available for inspection).  The 
date of value is January 19, 2017. 

PURPOSE OF THE APPRAISAL 
The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the Subject. 

INTENDED USE AND USER 
The user, Northern Inyo Hospital, will use this appraisal as an aid in negotiating a 
partnership buy-out. 

DEFINITION OF FAIR MARKET VALUE 
The current economic definition agreed upon by agencies that regulate federal financial 
institutions in the United States of America is: 

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open 
market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting 
prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue 
stimulus.  Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified 
date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 

2. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they 
consider their best interests; 

3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 

4. Payment is made in terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and 

5. The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold 
unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted 
by anyone associated with the sale.1 

PROPERTY RIGHTS APPRAISED 
The interest appraised represents the Fee Simple Estate and 33.474% partial interest.   

SCOPE OF THE APPRAISAL  
This appraisal report has been prepared within generally accepted appraisal principals 
as defined by USPAP. 

EXTENT OF PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION 
Physical Characteristics 
I utilized the following resources; 

 the Inyo County Assessor files, and 

                                                 

1 OCC, 12 CFR Part 34, Subpart C-Appraisals, 34.42 Definitions (g) 

113



 INTRODUCTION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 9  

 physical inspection. 

Legal Characteristics 
I was not provided a current Title Report.  I did not conduct an independent search of 
recorded documents.  For the purpose of this appraisal report, it is assumed that the title 
is clear, merchantable, and unencumbered. 

Extent of Property Inspection 
The property inspection included the exterior only.  I did not inspect the interior of the 
Subject.  Per Mr. Scott Hooker, NIH, the suites are occupied by physicians with a patient 
load.  No physical inspection was scheduled. 

Type and Extent of Data Researched 
I reviewed the micro and macro market environments on physical and economic factors 
relevant to the valuation process.  This process included interviews with regional and local 
market participants, available published data, and other various resources.  I also 
conducted regional and local research on applicable tax data, zoning requirements, 
flood zone status, demographics, income and expense data, and comparable listing, 
sale and rental information.  As part of the appraisal assignment, market data was 
collected in Inyo and Mono County. 

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied 
The value opinion presented in this report is based upon a review and analysis of the 
market conditions affecting property values in Inyo County.  Data collection and analysis 
for the three typical approaches were considered.    

STATEMENT OF APPRAISER COMPETENCE 
I have extensive experience in the appraisal/review of similar property types.  

OWNERSHIP AND PROPERTY HISTORY 
According to the Inyo County Assessor, the property is currently vested as follows:   

PTSP Pioneer Medical Association. 

On January 1, 1986, the Existing Partners and the Former Partners formed a general 
partnership, Pioneer Medical Associates, A California General Partnership.  In May of 
1986, the Pioneer Medical Association, consisting of nine partners, purchased the Subject 
site and developed the medical office facility. 

On October 17, 2003,  Northern Inyo County Local Hospital District purchased from Jon 
G. McLennan, M.D., Inc, an 18.979% interest in the Pioneer Medical Association.  The 
purchase price of $396,000 was confirmed with a representative of the Buyer.  In 2007 
and 2008 three more partners were bought out.  A fourth partner was bought out 
subsequent yet; no information was available regarding terms. 

EXPOSURE TIME 

1.  The time a property remains on the market. 

2. The estimated length of time the property interest being appraised would have 
been offered on the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale 

114



 INTRODUCTION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 10  

at market value on the effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective 
estimate based upon an analysis of past events assuming a competitive and 
open market.” (The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, Fifth Edition, 2010, Appraisal Institute) 

Exposure time is, therefore, interrelated with appraisal conclusion of value.  The sales 
indicate exposure times in the three (3) month to over four (4) years.  I concluded an 
exposure/marketing time of six (6) months or less. 

115



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 11  

COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 
Figure 3: Location Map 

 

116



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 12  

The County of Inyo is considered a south-central county within the Eastern portion of 
California.  The County is bordered by Kern County on the South, Tulare and Fresno 
Counties on the West, and Mono County on the North.  The County of Inyo is the second 
largest county in California with approximately 10,000 square miles.  Of this area, less than 
two (2) percent of the lands are privately owned.  The balance of the lands are State or 
Federal.   

The County was established in 1866.  The County includes many natural resources in its 
open and wilderness areas including the Inyo National Forest and Death Valley National 
Monument.  These two (2) areas, separated by a distance of approximately 80 miles, 
include the highest and lowest points in the Continental United States, Mt. Whitney 
(14,495 feet above sea level) and Badwater in Death Valley (282 feet below sea level).  
The recreational opportunities provided by these natural resources are a primary source 
of tourism to the area and represent the main attraction to the area. 

Bishop is the only incorporated city in the County of Inyo.  The City is bordered by the 
Department of Water and Power (LADWP) of the City of Los Angeles lands on all sides.      

U.S. Highway 395 provides regional access to the City.  The City of Bishop and its 
unincorporated suburbs, located at the upper end of Owens Valley, accounts for more 
than half of the County population.  The remainder of Owens Valley (including Round 
Valley) accounts for an additional 38 percent of the total County population. The 
remaining ten (10) percent of the County population is scattered in the other dozen 
desert valleys.  Most residents live in one of the many communities but some people live 
on outlying farms, ranches and mining claims within the vast open space of the County.   
All of the communities in the County are rural and this fact is recognized by the people 
as a benefit of the County.  Other urban communities in the County consist of Big Pine, 
Independence and Lone Pine.     

The Bishop area was one of the principal Paiute settlements probably due to the overall 
productivity of the area's water and soil resources.  Although explorers and settlers passed 
through the Bishop area for nearly 20 years, it was not until Samuel A. Bishop established 
the St. Francis Ranch with 500 head of cattle in 1861 that Bishop was settled.  Both Bishop 
Creek and the City take their name from this pioneer who left the County of Inyo shortly 
after establishing his ranch. While mining was the dominant economic activity in the rest 
of the County, Bishop was settled by cattle and sheep ranchers exploiting the grasslands 
on Bishop Creek's alluvial plain. After the City of Bishop incorporated in 1903, it became 
the commercial center of an agricultural economy which diversified as the area's water 
resources were developed. 

Bishop, 203 miles South of Reno, 270 miles North of Los Angeles and 300 miles Northwest 
of Las Vegas is now primarily a tourist town emphasizing the old west theme. The area 
offers year-round recreational activities.  While the elevation of Bishop is 4,200 feet, the 
Sierra Nevada Mountains rise to 14,000 feet just West of the City.  U.S. Highway 395 
provides a major source of tourist and recreation traffic for the area.  Bishop is not only 
the principal urban community of the County of Inyo but is considered the major urban 
center of Eastern California.  

The Bishop Reservation of the Paiute-Shoshone Indian Tribe accounts for 1,400 residents 
and is located immediately West of the City.  The average age in Bishop is slightly greater 

117



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 13  

than 35 indicating that the majority of the population is between 15 and 59.  Retirees or 
near retirement individuals comprise another significant portion. Bishop accounts for 
more than 50 percent of primary wage earner employment in the County.  Wholesale 
trades, service and government sectors alone account for almost 70 percent of all 
employment.  It also is the regional retail and commercial service center with the City 
accounting for more than 50 percent of County retail sales.   

With LADWP's purchase of Valley ranches for water rights, as a part of their aqueduct 
development, local agriculture declined and so did the population. Today, Bishop is the 
Eastern Sierra's largest urban community in an economy based on tourism and 
recreation.   

Residential land uses comprise approximately 40 percent of the City’s land area and are 
primarily set back from U.S. Highway 395 which is also the Main Street corridor.  Present 
residential development patterns are primarily influenced by the amount and location 
of private land within the City.  As a result, residential development is concentrated in 
areas that are already developed.  This involves the densification of existing residential 
land uses, as well as in-fill of undeveloped parcels.   

LADWP maintains a significant role in the provision of land for commercial, as well as 
residential purposes.  The LADWP’s land ownership and leasing policies have and will 
continue to be extremely important to land use and economic development of Bishop.  
Short-term policies indicate the continued use of developed parcels and limited 
development of undeveloped parcels.   

While the State of California realized unprecedented population growth, the population 
of the County of Inyo has not changed significantly in the past ten (10) years.   

The economic stability of the area is driven by three (3) economic sectors:  

 tourism,  
 local spending, and  
 resource extraction and management.  

Tourism is significant with visitor spending totaling 70.0 percent of all retail and lodging 
purchases.  Local retail spending has declined over time, indicating that residents may 
be shopping for general merchandise and food purchases outside the County.    

DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS 
Population and Household Formation 
The following table illustrates the population and household changes for the city of Bishop 
and the County of Inyo.  Also included are the projections for the Town of Mammoth 
Lakes and Mono County as these areas have a significant effect on the County of Inyo. 

118



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 14  

 

Population and households represent basic units of demand in the real estate market.  
According to the data presented, the area is experiencing decreases in both population 
and households in the County of Inyo and the City of Bishop.  Limited privately owned 
land restricts future population growth. 

Income Distributions 
Household income available for expenditure on consumer items is a primary factor in 
determining the retail supply and demand levels in a given market area.  In the case of 
this study, a projection of household income identifies (in gross terms) the market from 
which the submarket draws. The following table illustrates estimated household income 
distribution for the City of Bishop, the County of Inyo, the Town of Mammoth Lakes and 
Mono County. 

City of Bishop County of Inyo TOML Mono County
Population

2017 Population 3,735 18,477 8,620 14,900
2012 Population 3,813 18,611 8,360 14,418

          Census 2010 Population 3,879 17,546 8,234 14,202

Growth 2010 - 2017 -3.86% 5.04% 4.48% 4.68%
Growth 2010 - 2012 -1.73% 5.72% 1.51% 1.50%

Households
2017 Households 1,691 8,068 3,383 6,061
2012 Households 1,707 8,031 3,272 5,850

          Census 2010 Households 1,748 8,049 3,229 5,768

Growth 2010 - 2017 -3.37% 0.24% 4.55% 4.83%
Growth 2010 - 2012 -2.40% -0.22% 1.31% 1.40%

Source: ESRI

POPULATION AND HOUSEHOLD PROJECTIONS

119



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 15  

 

An analysis of the income data indicates that the submarket is generally comprised of 
lower-middle income economic groups. 

Employment 
An employment breakdown typically indicates the working class characteristics for a 
given market area.  The specific employment-population of the area is as follows: 

 

Industry City of Bishop County of Inyo TOML Mono County
2015 Employed Population 16+ by Industry
Total 1,924 9,172 5,093 8,677
  White Collar 52.30% 53.70% 55.60% 57.60%
     Management/Business/Financial 7.60% 10.70% 15.30% 15.70%
     Professional 18.60% 19.50% 19.80% 21.60%
     Sales 13.60% 9.50% 11.00% 10.20%
     Administrative Support 12.60% 13.90% 9.50% 10.10%
  Serv ices 29.20% 26.20% 29.10% 25.20%
  Blue Collar 18.50% 20.20% 15.30% 17.20%
     Farming/Forestry/Fishing 1.70% 1.00% 0.10% 0.20%
    Construction/Extraction 3.90% 6.10% 7.60% 9.10%
    Installation/Maintenance/Repair 4.20% 4.80% 2.60% 2.80%
    Production 3.30% 3.70% 1.70% 2.10%
    Transportations/Material Moving 5.40% 4.60% 3.30% 3.10%
Source: ERSI

AREA EMPLOYMENT AND UNEMPLOYMENT STATISTICS

 

The previous table illustrates the employment character of the submarket, indicating a 
mixture of blue and white-collar jobs.   

Bishop is Inyo County’s principal employment center, accounting for over 50.0 percent 
of primary wage earner employment.  The wholesale trades, service and government 
sectors alone account for almost 70.0 percent of all employment.  Bishop is also the 
regional retail and commercial service center with the City accounting for over 50.0 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent
Households by Income - 2017

<$15,000 320 18.9% 1,367    16.9% 276       8.2% 509       8.4%
$15,000 - $24,999 243 14.4% 950       11.8% 213       6.3% 407       6.7%
$25,000 - $34,999 307 18.1% 872       10.8% 144       4.3% 514       8.5%
$35,000 - $49,999 233 13.8% 995       12.3% 788       23.2% 1,147    18.9%
$50,000 - $74,999 268 15.8% 1,732    21.5% 550       16.3% 1,447    23.9%
$75,000 - $99,999 124 7.3% 870       10.8% 871       25.8% 1,215    20.1%
$100,000 - $149,000 159 9.4% 852       10.6% 299       8.8% 419       6.9%
$150,000 - $199,000 30 1.8% 310       3.8% 141       4.2% 265       4.4%
$200,000 + 8 0.5% 120       1.5% 99         2.9% 135       2.2%

Total 1,692    8,068    3,381    6,058    
Source: ESRI

POPULATION AND HOUSEHOLD PROJECTIONS
City of Bishop County of Inyo TOML Mono County

120



 COMMUNITY FEATURES AND ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 16  

percent of total county retail sales.  Most of the county and regional wholesale and 
distributing businesses are located within the City. 
CONCLUSION 
The County of Inyo is a desirable and attractive place to live and visit.  The region’s natural 
attractions contribute to the appeal.  However, the lack of private land serves to restrict 
economic growth in the private sector.  Employment is largely service-based, with many 
businesses serving travelers.  The area is not a strong real estate market. 
 
The preceding section discussed a wide variety of economic indicators. Based on the 
research, one can conclude that Bishop, CA continues to represent a diverse economy, 
supported by the area’s tourist and leisure attractions, its location in route to Mammoth 
Mountain Ski Area (MMSA) on U.S. Highway 395.  
 

 

 

121



 APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 17  

APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY 
In appraisal practice, an approach to value is included or omitted based on its 
applicability to the property type being valued and the quality and quantity of 
information available. 

COST APPROACH 
The Cost approach includes estimating the cost of all improvements, depreciating them 
to reflect loss of value from physical, functional and external causes then; land value, 
entrepreneurial profit and depreciated improvement costs are added, resulting in an 
opinion of value. 

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
The Sales Comparison Approach utilizes sales of comparable properties, adjusted for 
differences, to indicate a value for the Subject. Valuation is typically accomplished using 
physical units of comparison such as price per square foot, price per unit, price per floor, 
etc., or economic units of comparison such as gross rent multiplier.  Adjustments are 
applied to the physical units of comparison derived from the comparable sale.  The unit 
of comparison chosen for the Subject is then used to yield a total value.   

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 
The Income Capitalization Approach reflects the Subject’s income-producing 
capabilities.  This approach is based on the assumption that value is created by the 
expectation of benefits to be derived in the future.  Specifically estimated is the amount 
an investor would be willing to pay to receive an income stream plus reversion value from 
a property over a period of time.  

METHODOLOGY APPLICABLE TO THE SUBJECT 
The Cost and Income Capitalization Approaches are considered the most applicable 
and are used.  The Sales Comparison Approach is not used due to the lack of medical 
office building sales and relevant data in the local market. 

   

122



 SITE DATA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 18  

SITE DATA 
ASSESSORS PARCEL MAP 

Figure 4: Assessor's Parcel Map 

 
 

LOCATION 
The Subject is located at 152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California.  

APN 
011-240-014 and 011-240-1404 

LAND AREA 
The legal tax parcel is 140’ x 400’ totaling 56,192 SF or, 1.29 acres. 

ACCESS AND EXPOSURE  

Regional and local access is via US 395, W. Line Street and Pioneer Lane. 

  

123



 SITE DATA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 19  

STREETS 
US 395 is a major north/south thoroughfare improved with two lanes of traffic in each 
direction, concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks and street lighting.  Street parking is not 
permitted.  West Line Street, a secondary route, is improved with one lane of traffic in 
each direction, concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks and street lighting.  Street parking is 
permitted. The Subject site has 140 feet of frontage along Pioneer Lane.   

TOPOGRAPHY AND DRAINAGE 
The topography around the Subject is level and at street grade.  It slopes slightly from 
south to north in the Subject’s immediate vicinity.  No drainage problems were observed 
during the physical inspection. 

EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS, AND ENCROACHMENTS 

A current title policy for the property was not provided for the preparation of this 
appraisal. Based on my visual inspection and review of the plat map, site plan, the 
property does not appear to be adversely affected by any easements or 
encroachments.  This report assumes there are no additional easements or 
encroachments that have a negative impact on the value of the property.   

UTILITIES/SERVICES 
All typical utilities are available. 

FLOOD ZONE 
According to flood hazard maps published by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA), the site is within Flood Zone D, as indicated Community No. 
06027CO332D, map dated August 16, 1011. 

TOXIC HAZARDS  

To the best of my knowledge, I have not observed and am not qualified to detect the 
existence of potentially hazardous material or underground storage tanks which may or 
may not be present on or near the property. 

SEISMIC HAZARD 

The site is not located in a Special Study Zone as established by California’s Alquist-Priolo 
Geological Hazards Act. 

BORDERING LAND USES 

 North:  Pioneer Cemetery  

 South:  NIH 

 East:  NIH 

 West:  NIH 

124



 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS / LAYOUT 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 20  

BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS/LAYOUT 
The Subject is a 1986-built MOB with a 1990-built addition.  The improvement construction 
details are summarized below. 

Construction The MOB is wood-frame with stucco siding. The windows 
are dual-glazed in anodized aluminum frames. 

Foundation/Floors Poured in place reinforced concrete perimeter 
foundation with wood joists on post & piers. 

Frame/Exterior Walls The exterior walls of the MOB are wood-frame with 
stucco siding and Brick Veneer Wainscot.   

Roof Cover The roof was not inspected but assumed to be adequate 
for the current occupancy.   

Interior Build-out  

Ceiling: Suspended “T” bar acoustical tiles with integrated 
fluorescent panels.   

Lighting The lighting is comprised of ceiling recessed fluorescent 
lighting, can lighting and tract lighting. 

Floor Covering The floor coverings are typically commercial carpeting in 
the reception area with vinyl flooring or tile in the exam 
rooms and utility room.   

Walls The interior demising walls are wood-framed with drywall 
painted finish. 

HVAC The MOB features gas forced air heat and rooftop air-
conditioning units.   

Electrical The electrical system is typical for this property type and 
is assumed adequate for the intended use. 

Fire Protection The spaces are not sprinklered. 

Plumbing There are two-fixture restrooms in the demised office 
areas.  

Deferred Maintenance No items of significant deferred maintenance were 
noted. 

Environmental Issues I was not provided with an environmental report.  No 
evidence of hazardous waste or toxic materials was 

125



 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS / LAYOUT 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 21  

noted during my physical inspection and I have no 
knowledge of the existence of these substances. 

Parking The 30,000 square foot asphalt paved area has marked, 
bumpered parking.   

Landscaping Landscaped shrub beds with automatic sprinkler systems.  

Security The parking area is not secured.   

Economic Age and Life The MOB was built in 1986 and 1990.  The improvement is 
in average overall condition. 

ADA Compliance The client/reader’s attention is directed to the specific 
limiting conditions regarding ADA compliance. 

Non-Realty Components The Subject, as appraised herein, is not inclusive of any 
non-realty components. 

 

126



 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS / LAYOUT 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 22  

BUILDING SKETCH 

Figure 5: Building Sketch 

 
 

127



 LAND USE RESTRICTIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 23  

LAND USE RESTRICTIONS 
The Subject’s zoning requirements are summarized in the accompanying table. 

 

 
 

The General Plan designation is General Commercial.  This designation provides a broad 
category of commercial activities including those establishments offering a wide range 
of convenience consumer goods and a variety of personal services.  The General Plan 
designation is consistent with the underlying zoning; C-1 zoning district is intended to serve 
as the retail trading and business area. Offices, business and professional uses are 
permitted in the C-1 district.  

CONCLUSION 
The Northern Inyo County Local Hospital District deed restricted the property to 
development of a medical office building. The MOB is a legal conforming use based on 
the current zoning and general plan designations.  

Current zoning: C-1
Legally conforming: No
Uses permitted: Retail trading and business
Zoning change Not likely

Category Zoning Requirements
Minimum Lot Size: 1,500 square feet
Minimum Lot Width: 30 feet
Front Setback: 15 feet
Side Setback: 5 feet
Rear Setback: 15 feet
Height limit: 30 feet

Parking:
1 per 800 SF of Retail / 1 per 1,000 SF of
shop space

ZONING SUMMARY

128



 TAX ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 24  

TAX ANALYSIS 

In California, all real property is assessed at 100 percent of full cash value (which is 
interpreted to mean market value of the Fee Simple Estate) as determined by the Inyo 
County Assessor.  A reassessment occurs only when a property is sold (or transferred) or 
when new construction occurs (as differentiated from replacing existing construction).  
Assessments for properties that were acquired before the tax year 1975-1976 were 
stabilized as of the tax year 1975-1976.      

State law limits property taxes to one percent of the assessed value plus voter-approved 
obligations.  If no sale (or transfer) occurs or no new construction takes place, assessments 
may not increase by more than two percent annually.  Taxes are payable in two equal 
installments, which become delinquent after December 10 and April 10.  The following 
table summarizes the current assessed value and property taxes. 

 

Component
Assessed Land Value $565,666
Assessed Improvements Value 1,633,788       
Assessed Fixtures -                 
Assessed Fixtures/Personal Property Value -                 

Total Assessed Value $2,199,454

Total Taxes $23,431
Effective Tax Rate: 1.065324%

AD VALOREM TAX INFORMATION

 
 
TAX AND ASSESSMENT CONCLUSION 
If the Subject sold for the value estimate in this report, a reassessment at that value would 
most likely occur, with tax increases limited to 2.0% annually thereafter until the property 
is sold again. The consequences of this reassessment have been considered in the 
appropriate valuation sections. 

  

 

129



 HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 25  

HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS 
Highest and Best Use is defined as the reasonably probable and legal use found to be 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, that results in the highest 
present value.  Typically two (2) tests of Highest and Best Use are considered;  

 as though vacant and, 

 as improved.   

The Subject is, on-campus, adjacent to the Northern Inyo Hospital and restricted  to 
development of medical facilities.  Consequently, the highest and best use of the 
Subject, “as vacant” and “as improved” is for medical office use.  

 

  

130



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 26  

COST APPROACH 

METHODOLOGY 
The Cost approach is defined as follows: 
 

A set of procedures through which a value indication is derived for the fee simple 
interest in a property by estimating the current cost to construct a reproduction 
of, or replacement for the existing structure; deducting accrued depreciation 
from the reproduction or replacement cost; and adding the estimated land value 
plus an entrepreneurial profit.  Adjustments may then be made to the indicated 
fee simple value of the subject property to reflect the value indication of the 
property interest being appraised.2 

This approach consists of an analysis of the property's physical value.  The Principle of 
Substitution, the underlying rationale of this approach, holds that no prudent person will 
pay more for a property than the price of a site and the cost of constructing, without 
undue delay, an equally desirable and useful property.  In the cost approach, the 
following steps are typically employed to reach an estimate of value: 

1. Estimate land value as if vacant; 

2. Estimate the improvements' replacement cost new, including indirect costs; 

3. Estimate the necessary developer's overhead and profit for the type of 
property being appraised, (including profit on the land); 

4. Add land value, replacement cost new, and profit to calculate the total 
cost new of the property; 

5. Estimate accrued depreciation, if any, from physical, functional, and/or 
external causes; and 

6. Deduct accrued depreciation from the total cost new of the property to 
calculate its current value as indicated by the cost approach. 

In the cost approach, the land value is estimated through consideration of transactions 
involving comparable sales.  The replacement cost of the improvements is supported via 
typical sources, primarily the Marshall & Swift Cost Estimation Service, a nationally 
recognized cost service.  When applicable, the actual construction costs for the subject 
are utilized and information for the cost of constructing similar buildings is considered.  
From this estimate, total accrued depreciation from all sources is subtracted.  The 
contributory value of the land is then added to the depreciated replacement cost of the 
improvements to indicate the subject property value via the cost approach. 

                                                 

2 American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 3rd edition 

    (Chicago: American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, 1993, p. 81) 

131



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 27  

The land and improvements are valued separately.  The land is valued by market 
comparison.  The improvements are valued separately by cost sources that are 
described in the following section. 

 
 

 

132



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 28  

LAND VALUATION 

In the Bishop commercial real estate market, there is a significant difference in the 
desirability of commercial exposure (location). There are four distinct commercial areas 
of the City of Bishop.  South of the main commercial business district, downtown (main 
commercial business district), Line Street, and North Sierra Highway (West Bishop). Market 
evidence and conversations with real estate professionals indicated the main 
commercial business district commands the highest price per square foot, followed by 
South of the main commercial district and finally the North Sierra Highway (West Bishop).  

Although the Subject does not fall into any of the above geographical categories, as it 
is an on-campus site, local commercial land sales are deemed more comparable than 
non-local on-campus land sales. The accompanying table summarize the comparable 
data used in the valuation of the Subject land. 

 
SUMMARY OF COMPARABLE MARKET DATA

Current/Proposed Use Adjusted Sale Size Size Price Per
No. Property Location Type Date GP/Zoning Price  (SF)  (Acres) (SF)

1 474 E. Line Street
Bishop, CA

Sale Dec-12 Warehouse/Warehouse
GC / C-2

$150,000 13,504 0.31 $11.11

2 194 E. Willow Street
Bishop, CA

Sale May-15 Vacant Commercial Land
GC / C-2

$190,125 10,672 0.25 $17.82

3 686 Hammond Street
Bishop, CA

Sale Jul-14 Vacant Land/Residential 
Development

GC / R-3-P

$345,000 15,682 0.36 $22.00

4 Academy Avenue
Bishop, CA

Sale Jun-14 Vacant Commercial Land
GC / C-1

$125,100 4,792 0.11 $26.11

5 106 MacIver Street
Bishop, CA

Listing 15 DOM Vacant Commercial Land
GC / C-1

$490,000 32,234 0.74 $15.20

Subject 152 Pioneer Lane MOB
GC / C-1

56,192 1.29

Transaction

 
 
Market Data No. 1  This comparable represents the sale of an improved 

commercial/industrial property. The site is 0.31 acres located in the 
City of Bishop east of US 395 along E. Line Street.  The area is mixed 
use with residential and commercial. The site is developed with a 
1949-built warehouse given little value.  The improvement will require 
significant updating and repairs.   

The property was exposed to the open market for 305 days with an 
original asking price of $299,000.  The property sold, all cash, for 
$150,000 in December of 2012. 

 

Market Data No. 2  The site was purchased by the adjoining owner (4-plex) in July 2008 
for $189,000 or, $17.74 per square foot.  The property was available 

133



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 29  

on the open market for 273 days @ $269,000 in May of 2007.  The 
property has been available on the open market since early 2014 
with an asking price of $215,000. The property sold to a local investor 
in May of 2015 for $190,125 cash. The Seller will reserved a 'view 
corridor' via a deed restriction.     

Market Data No. 3 This comparable represents the sale of two legal lots.  The site was 
improved with an older SFR given no value.  The property sold for 
future development to multifamily residential.  

Market Data No. 4 This comparable represents the sale of a vacant commercial lot 
purchased by an adjoining land and business owner.  The property 
was not exposed to the open market and sold all cash for $125,100 
or, $26.11 per square foot. 

Market Data No. 5 This comparable sale represents the current listing of a vacant 
commercial lot. A prior sale is reported in June 2004 for $400,000 
followed by the 2010 sale for $550,000. This site was purchased by the 
Salvation Army for future development to a community center/thrift 
store.  The development was scrapped and the site has been 
available on the open market for 15 days with an asking price of 
$490,000. 

ELEMENTS OF COMPARISON – BRACKETING METHOD ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS 
Market research suggests that the most applicable comparative measure of value is the 
overall sale price per square foot.  This measure includes the contribution from all 
components of the sale property including appropriate structural improvements, leases, 
and water. 

The Appraisal of Real Estate, 14th edition (Appraisal Institute, 2013), on page 390 states: 

“Elements of comparison are the characteristics of properties and transaction 
that help to explain the variances in the prices paid for real property.” 

In the sales comparison approach characteristics that influence value in a particular 
market are identified.  The comparative analysis accounts for differences in these – value 
enhancing - elements between the Subject and the comparable sales.  Two 
comparative analysis techniques are recognized in The Appraisal of Real Estate; 
quantitative and qualitative. 

In quantitative analysis, a numeric adjustment to the sale price of the comparable is 
made to reflect differences between the sale and the Subject.  In many markets, there 
are too few transactions, or the kinds of properties being transacted are too disparate to 
allow the appraiser to quantify adjustments for each of the various elements of 
comparison.  In this case, qualitative analysis is appropriate. 

After the appropriate quantitative adjustments are applied; this appraisal uses a specific 
kind of qualitative analysis known as ‘bracketing’.  The sales are categorized into three 
classes. 

 sales that are superior,  

134



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 30  

 sales that are inferior, and 
 sales that are similar to the Subject.  

The operating premise of the analysis is … the Subject’s indicated value will be: 

 below the range of prices of the ‘superior’ comparable sales, 
 more than the ‘inferior’ properties, and 
 about the same as comparable sales that are rated as ‘similar’. 

Market study enables the appraiser to understand the characteristics of real property 
that affect value in a particular market. Elements of comparison include both property-
related elements, such as location, parcel size, zoning, and so forth, and transaction-
related elements, which addresses such factors as financing, marketing effort, and 
market dynamics. 

The concept of market value assumes a free-will transaction where knowledgeable 
parties conduct negotiations without duress and in good faith, where properties are 
adequately exposed to the market, and the consideration is paid in cash.  When a 
transaction departs from these conditions, transaction-related adjustments reflect the 
impact that the departures may have had on price (if any).  

The following chart analyzes the market data recognizing the value-impacting variables 
in this market. 

 

 
 
 
 

135



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 31  

MARKET DATA ADJUSTMENT GRID

Comparable Number 1 2 3 4 5
Transaction Type Sale Sale Sale Sale Listing

Adjusted Sale Price $150,000 $190,125 $345,000 $125,100 $490,000

Size (SF) 13,504 10,672 15,682 4,792 32,234

Adjusted Sale (SF) $11.11 $17.82 $22.00 $26.11 $15.20
Property Rights Conveyed 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Financing Terms 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Conditions of Sale 0% 5% 0% 0% 0%
Market Conditions 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expenditures After Sale 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Subtotal $11.11 $18.71 $22.00 $26.11 $15.20
Location + 0 0 0 0
Size - - - - -
Offsites 0 0 0 0 0
Configuation 0 0 0 0 0
Frontage/Exposure 0 0 0 0 0
Development Potential - - - - -
Overall Adjustment + - - - -

Indicated Lower Limit $11.11 Per SF
Indicated Upper Limit $15.20 - $26.11 Per SF
Indicated Range $11.11 - $15.20 Per SF

 

CONCLUSION 
The unadjusted sales prices range from $11.11 to $26.11 per square foot.  The 
accompanying table shows the overall comparison of the market data to the Subject 
after adjustment. 

 

Sale No. Inferior Superior
1 11.11$   
2 18.71$     
3 22.00$     
4 26.11$     
5 15.20$     

OVERALL COMPARISON
 OF SALES TO SUBJECT

 

 

136



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 32  

The indicated lower limit is $11.11  per square foot.  The indicated upper limit is between 
$15.20 and $26.11 per square foot resulting in an indicated range of value to the Subject 
between $11.11 and $15.20 per square foot.  

From an investor’s perspective, a well-positioned and well-managed MOB represents a 
relatively secure investment opportunity, as there is always a demand for medical care.  
The two significant factors that relate to value of land designated for a MOB include: 

1) the effects of hospitals and hospital proximity on MOBs, and 

2) the current medical and political climate, which may alter some of the 
fundamental aspects of MOB appraisals. 

Based on the preceding analysis, none of the comparable data are most representative 
of the Subject.  A price per square foot indication towards the higher end of the range is 
most appropriate. My conclusion of market value via the Sales Comparison Approach is 
shown in the accompanying table.   

 

LAND VALUATION SUMMARY
$ / SF Subject SF Total

$15.00 x 56,192 = $842,880

 

  

137



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 33  

COST APPROACH 
To estimate the replacement cost new, the comparative unit method used. 

DIRECT COST 
The Marshall Valuation Service (MVS) cost guide, published by Marshall and Swift, Inc., 
has been used to estimate the direct costs.   

Base building costs (direct costs), indicated by the MVS cost guide, are adjusted to reflect 
the physical characteristics.  Making these adjustments, including the appropriate local 
and current cost multipliers, the Direct Building Cost is indicated. 

ADDITIONS 
Items not included in the direct building cost estimate include parking and walks, 
signage, landscaping, and miscellaneous site improvements.  The cost for these items is 
estimated separately using the segregated cost sections of the MVS cost guide. 

INDIRECT COST 
Several indirect cost items are not included in the direct building cost figures derived 
through the MVS cost guide.  These items include developer overhead (general and 
administrative costs), property taxes, legal and insurance costs, local development fees 
and contingencies, lease-up and marketing costs and miscellaneous costs.  Research 
into these costs leads to the conclusion that an average property requires an allowance 
for additional indirect costs of about 5.0 to 50.0% of the total direct costs. 

ENTREPRENEURIAL PROFIT 
Entrepreneurial profit represents the return to the developer and is separate from 
contractor’s overhead and profit.  This line item, which is a subjective figure, tends to 
range from 5.0 to 15.0% of total direct and indirect costs for this property type, based on 
discussions with developers active in this market.   

REPLACEMENT COST NEW 
Based on the quantity and quality of the available cost data, the Subject’s estimated 
replacement cost new is based primarily on Marshall Valuation Service information. 

ACCRUED DEPRECIATION 
There are essentially three (3) sources of accrued depreciation:  

1. physical deterioration, both curable and incurable;  
2. functional obsolescence, both curable and incurable; and  
3. external obsolescence.  

Physical Deterioration 
The Subject’s physical condition was summarized in the Improvement Analysis.  The 
following chart provides a summary of the remaining economic life. 

 

138



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 34  

ECONOMIC AGE AND LIFE (MOB)

Actual Age 30 Years

Effective Age 20 Years

MVS Expected Life 45 Years

Remaining Economic Life 25 Years

Acrued Physical Incurable Depreciation 44.4%

 
 

Functional Obsolescence 
Based on a review of the design and layout of the improvements, no forms of curable 
functional obsolescence were noted.   

External Obsolescence 
Based on a review of the local retail market and neighborhood, there is nominal external 
obsolescence. 

COST APPROACH CONCLUSION 
The value estimate is calculated on the Cost approach Schedule shown in the 
accompanying table. 

139



 COST APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 35  

COST APPROACH
Building Type: MOB Height per Story: 9' to 10'
Quality/Condition: Average Gross Building Area:
Exterior Wall: Wood-Frame    MOB 16,369 SF
Number of Stories: 1

Base Building Cost (MOB) $3,757,898
Additions

Tenant Improvements $0
Landscaping & Misc. Site Improvements $91,000
Subterranean Parking Garage (Included in Base Building Cost) $0
Other $0

Direct Building Cost $3,848,898

Indirect Costs 10.0% of Direct Building Cost $384,890
Direct and Indirect Building Cost $4,233,788

Entrepreneurial Profit 15.0% of Total Building Cost $635,068

Replacement Cost New $4,868,856

Accrued Depreciation
Curable Physical Deterioration $0
Unfinished Shell Space $0
Incurable Physical Deterioration 44.4% of Replacement Cost New 

less Curable Physical 
Deterioration ($2,161,772)

Functional Obsolescence $0
External Obsolescence $0
Total Accrued Depreciation 44.4% of Replacement Cost New ($2,161,772)

Depreciated Replacement Cost $2,707,084

Depreciated Replacement Cost $2,707,084
Land Value $842,880
Value Indication $3,549,964
Rounded $3,500,000
Value Per SF $213.82

 

 

140



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 36  

INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 
Numerous differences exist between medical office buildings and standard office 
buildings.  In major metropolitan markets, the financial condition of an adjoining hospital 
is considered however; the local market drivers prevail in these rural areas.  Financial 
information is available (https://www.oshpd.ca.gov/HID/Find-Hospital-Data.html) yet; 
not considered as dominate in determination of achievable rents.   

Lease data was collected from the Subject Property. The Subject totals 16,369 SF in gross 
building area with 16,077 net leaseable area. The original Partnership Agreement 
involved nine partners that purchased the 56,192 SF on-campus site in May of 1986 for 
$266,000 or, $4.74 per square foot and developed the facility in the same year.   

Northern Inyo Hospital purchased all “partial interests” (medical office suites), except the 
two remaining Subject interests, in the corporation that owns the building.  

It is my understanding after conversations with NIH representatives; the current lease rate 
at the Subject is $1.25 per square foot per month on a gross lease basis with the tenant 
responsible for utilities and janitorial.  Because NIH offers the suites as part of an overall 
compensation arrangement to attract physicians; I could not find a consistent trend or 
confirm the information provided. Therefore I chose not to use this in the analysis.   

 I assembled information shown in the accompanying table from the Inyo County 
Assessor’s office and per conversations with Mr. Scott Hooker, NIH. 

  

Year Improv Adj. Sale Price Rent
No. Seller/Buyer Type Date Built  Suite (SF)  Price  Per SF  Per SF/Month 

Suite A McLennon/NIH Sale of 18.979% Oct-03 3,040       396,000$    130.26$ 
NIH / Mammoth Hospital Lease Aug-04 0.42$               

Suite B Kamei & Hathaway 14.63% 2,373       
Suite C Kamei & Hathaway 14.63% 2,373       

Suite D Gardner ? 12.82% 2,054       
Suite E Gardner ?

Suite F Kobayashi/NIH Sale of 12.595% 2007 2,017       21,000$      10.41$   

Suite G Clark/NIH Sale of 8.565% 2008 1,372       198,000$    144.31$ 

Suite H Casey/Beck / NIH Sale of 17.78% 2008 2,848       411,000$    144.31$ 

Transaction
PIONEER MEDICAL BUILDING

 

Reader, please note this information is provided for information purposes only. The 
available information indicates, NIH purchased office suites in the Pioneer Medical 

141



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 37  

Building based on $10.41 to $144.31 per square foot.   No information was available to 
confirm the sizable range in price per square foot paid for the office suites. 

Market participants agreed;  

 hospitals, commonly faced with decreased revenue, results in increased 
competition between hospitals. 

 Highly-regarded doctors are the hospitals' primary customers; to attract these 
physicians, the hospital offers to provide competitively priced high-quality MOB 
space.  Therefore; hospitals are the driving force in the supply and pricing of MOB 
space. 

 Consideration of an achievable rent should address the distorted medical rental 
comparable data where there is not a true arm's-length transaction. 

At this point, I have no comparable on-campus MOB data confirmed as an arm’s-length 
transaction.  Hence; I expanded the search for market data off-campus. The following 
location map and table of rents summarizes the comparable data used in the valuation 
of the MOB.  A detailed description of the rent data is included in the Addenda. 

 

 

142



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 38  

No. Property Name

Year

Built Occ. NRA (SF)

Quoted

Rental Rate

Expense

Basis

Tenant

Name

Lease

Area 

(SF)

Lease

Date Term

Monthly

Base Rent/SF CAM

1 Dental  Office

645 W. Line Street

1998 100% 2,244 $6,556.36  Modified

Gross

Brian L. Carkeet, 

D.D.S., Inc.

2,244 Jan. 1, 

2012

5 Yrs. $2.92 Modified

Net

2 Dental  Office

325 Grove Street

1982 100% 1,800 $2,295.00  Net Overholtzer 

Property Mgmt 

Inc.

1800 N/A 5‐10 Yrs. $1.28 Net

3 Mammoth Hospital

Bishop Physical  Therapy

162 S. Main Street

1964 100% 18,837 $8,600.00  Net Mammoth 

Hospital

6,200 N/A 5 Yrs. $1.39 Net

SUMMARY OF COMPARABLE RENTALS

 

ANALYSIS OF MOB RENT COMPARABLE DATA 
Rent Comparable One 
This comparable represents the lease of a wood-frame, 1998-built dental office.  The 
lease commenced January 1, 2012, for a term of five years.  The monthly base rent was 
$2.92 per square foot on a modified net basis.   The lease had one year remaining when 
one of the existing two partners purchased the property. The owning partner agreed not 
to sell the premises during the term of the lease or any renewal term without notice of 
price and terms; tenant had the right to exercise a right-of-first-refusal.  The tenant was 
responsible for the interior of the premises while the landlord was responsible for 
maintenance repair and replacement of the exterior of the premises. 

The improvement consists of 2,244 SF and includes one reception area and waiting room, 
five exam rooms, two office/conference areas, storage, break room and two restrooms 
in excellent condition. 

Rent Comparable Two 
This comparable represents the lease of a dental office building.  The property was leased 
by an existing partner for five years on a net lease basis.  An existing partner purchased 
the property and at the time of sale in 2014 the lease rate was $1.28 per square foot per 
month. 

The 1982-built improvement has interior wall finish of painted wallboard with suspended 
ceiling tiles and suspended fluorescent fixtures. The interior layout includes one reception 
and waiting room, five exam rooms, two office/conference areas, storage, break room 
and two restrooms.  The improvement has both wall heat and a forced-air gas system 
and a roof-mounted swamp cooler.  The examination rooms are tiled with commercial 
grade carpeting in corridors and reception areas.  Plumbing components include two 
restrooms, additional sink areas in each examination room and solar hot water.  The 
building improvement is in average overall condition. 

 

143



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 39  

Rent Comparable Three 
This comparable represents the lease of 6,200 SF in the old Von’s building to Mammoth 
Hospital for a physical therapy office. The improvement consists of an 18,837 SF with retail 
and medical offices.  

According to Mr. Gary Myers, Mammoth Hospital CEO, the lease term is five years on a 
net basis.  Mammoth Hospital completed significant tenant improvements before 
occupying the space.  The current lease rate is $1.39 per square foot per month.  

Discussions with Market Participants 
Market participants agreed; the immediate office submarket is characterized by smaller 
local owner/investors who tend to occupy a portion of a larger building.  Gross lease 
terms without base year reimbursements are common, though more sophisticated 
buildings owners, or owners with property management, include base year stops or some 
CAM fee.  Buildings leased on a gross basis have tenants responsible for utilities and 
occasionally the CAM and snow removal.  Lease terms in the Subject’s submarket have 
typically ranged from month-to-month to five years, and tenant improvement 
allowances are minimal.  

MARKET RENT SUMMARY 
The majority of office buildings in Bishop are located in the downtown area fronting on 
Main Street (US 395) or just off Main Street along Line Street.  The typical office space is 
1,000 to 5,000 SF, with several governmental spaces of 10,000 SF, and only a few offices 
that exceed 10,000 SF.   
 
Due to the lack of sophistication of the Bishop market, there is no consistency in the lease 
information and terms.  Some of the leases are based on a net basis while others are 
based on a gross lease basis.  The immediate submarket is characterized by local 
businesses and governmental agencies.  Lease terms have typically ranged from five- to 
10-years, with no tenant improvement allowances. 
 
Rental rates range from $0.65 to $1.60 per square foot, with a variety of lease terms.  
Asking rates are higher.  The majority of the offices are owner-users, with relatively few 
investors who purchase or develop offices with the intent to rent them out.  The relatively 
small size and tourism /governmental economic base of Bishop does not lend itself to a 
more typical office rental market commonly found in larger metropolitan communities. 
 
Relocation of the Inyo County Courthouse and the County of Inyo (consolidation of all 
County offices) from Independence to Bishop continues albeit, at a slow pace. The 
County of Inyo has been working on consolidation of all the leased and owned space 
for years.  The County currently leases some 40,000 SF in Bishop at an average cost of 
$1.08 per square foot per month on a gross lease basis.   

CONCLUSION 
Current rent for a standard office building in Bishop is between $0.65 and $1.60 per square 
foot per month on varying basis and terms.  The typical CAM is between $0.24 and $0.53.   

144



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 40  

Typically, MOBs lease at higher rates than standard office buildings.  Not only are rental 
rates higher; a MOB can have higher expenses than a typical office building.  The Subject 
improvement is an on-campus stand-alone office building in average condition with an 
average level of market appeal. 

The MOB rent comparable data range from $1.28 to $2.92 per square foot.  The rent of 
$2.92 per square foot for the dental office along W. Line Street is at the high-end of the 
achievable market rent.   The $1.39 per square foot paid by Mammoth Hospital for 
physical therapy offices along Main Street is at the low end of the achievable rent for the 
Subject, yet; representative of current market rent for an off-campus medical office.  I 
concluded an achievable market rent for the Subject of $1.45 per square foot per month 
on a net lease basis. 

HISTORIC INCOME AND EXPENSES 
No historic income and expense figures were provided.  

VACANCY AND COLLECTION LOSS 
The rentals surveyed indicate vacancy rates ranging from zero to 100.0%.  Considering 
the current trends discussed in the Market Analysis section, a 4.0% stabilized vacancy loss, 
with an additional 1.0% collection loss, is reasonable for the Subject property.  This results 
in a total vacancy and collection loss factor equal to 5.0% of potential gross income. 

OPERATING EXPENSE ANALYSIS 
A MOB can have higher expenses. The greatest variance occurs within the categories of 
management and utilities.  The Subject has MOB tenant improvements; including 
extensive plumbing, restrooms, examination rooms, cabinets, and storage.  Therefore; the 
standard office building expense comparable data from the local market may not be 
appropriate.   

The typical CAM for a standard office building in Bishop is between $0.24 and $0.53. In 
estimating the operating expenses for the Subject, I have relied primarily on expense 
data from the local market as no historical information was provided. 

Real Estate Taxes 
The real estate taxes for the Subject were previously discussed.  As market value assumes 
a sale, property taxes in my analysis are calculated by applying the published tax rate to 
the concluded value of the Subject plus direct assessments. 

Property Insurance 
The insurance expense includes the cost of basic liability as well as multi-peril insurance.  
It specifically excludes mortgage insurance, earthquake insurance, and boiler insurance.  
These items reflect owner preferences and are not integral to the operation of the 
property.  The expense comparable indicate a range of $0.33 to $1.00 per square foot.  I 
have estimated an insurance expense equal to $0.75 per square foot. 

Utilities (Water, Sewer and Common Area) 
Utilities expenses typically include electricity, natural gas, water, sewer and trash removal. 
Per typical commercial lease agreements, the Tenant is responsible for electrical, 

145



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 41  

propane, internet and trash service charges.  The Landlord is responsible for water, sewer 
and common area charges.  The expense comparable indicate a range of $0.33 to $1.00 
per square foot.  I have estimated an expense equal to $1.00 per square foot. 

General and Administrative 
General operating expenses typically include all payroll and payroll related items for all 
directly employed administrative personnel such as building managers, secretaries, and 
bookkeepers. Leasing personnel are not included nor are the salaries or fees for off-site 
management firm personnel and services. This expense category also typically includes 
administrative expenses such as legal costs pertaining to the operation of the building, 
telephone, supplies, furniture, temporary help, etc.  I have estimated an expense equal 
to $1.00 per square foot. 

Repairs and Maintenance (Exterior) 
Included in this expense is the cost of any non-structural repairs and maintenance to the 
building such as contract services (primarily HVAC maintenance), minor repairs to the 
physical building components, electrical and plumbing systems, and any labor costs 
associated with on- or off-site personnel and supplies.  Specifically excluded are capital 
expenditures.  The expense comparable indicate a range of $0.25 to $1.57 per square 
foot.   I have estimated a common area maintenance expense equal to $1.00 per square 
foot. 

Landscaping and Security 
Landscaping and security expenses are typically handled through outside service 
contracts.   I have estimated an expense equal to $1.00 per square foot. 

Management Fee 
Typically management fees are written as a percentage of effective gross income.  The 
management fee varies depending upon the type of use and number of tenants.  A 
breakdown of historical management fees were not available.  Currently, there is minimal 
management fee as the owner is acting as the manager.  I have utilized a management 
fee equal to 4.0% of effective gross income. 

Reserves for Replacement 
In addition to typical operating expenses and non-reimbursable expenses, buyers of 
investment properties often include a line item replacement reserve for short-lived items.  
Consistent with investor analyses, this expense is deducted from the annual cash flows in 
the discounted cash flow analysis but is not used in the estimate of stabilized net 
operating income. 

Total Expense Conclusion 
Expenses for the Subject are within the range indicated by the expense comparable 
data.  The assumptions, line-item conclusions, and individual expense estimates are 
considered reasonable. 

146



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 42  

DIRECT CAPITALIZATION 
Direct capitalization is a method used to convert a single year's estimated stabilized net 
operating income into a value indication.   

CAPITALIZATION RATE 
Comparable Sales 
The Sales Comparison Approach was not used in the analysis due to the lack of 
comparable building sales.  However, two dental office buildings sold to existing partners 
who were leasing at the time of sale.  These data are used as comparable rents and used 
in determining a market-derived overall capitalization rate.  The overall capitalization 
rates (OARs) confirmed for these sales analyzed are shown in the accompanying table. 
 

COMPARABLE CAPITALIZATION RATES
Sale Sale Price

Rent Date $/SF Occupancy OAR Basis OAR
1 2014 195.00$      100% Pro-Forma 9.00%
3 2016 200.00$      100% Pro-Forma 7.70%

 

 

The overall capitalization rates for these sales were derived based upon the actual or 
pro-forma income characteristics of the property.  These represent the most recent data, 
which is reflective of current market trends, interest rates, and buyer’s expectations and 
motivation in the market.  The local Bishop market is oriented toward owner occupants.  
The comparable sales exhibited overall capitalization rates of 7.70% and 9.00%.   
 
Additional market data was analyzed due to the weakness of the market-derived 
capitalization rates. 

Published Investor Survey Data and Band of Investment 
A second method for establishing an overall capitalization rate for the Subject is to review 
the criteria of major investors in the marketplace.  Most surveys are performed on a 
national or regional basis. Of the surveys, considered none address the Bishop area 
specifically.  Those surveys considered in this report are the PwC Real Estate Investor 
Survey, RealtyRates.com, Real Estate Research Corporation.  
 
These surveys typically provide a fairly wide range of cap rates applicable to certain 
property types and involve only investment or institutional grade properties. Each of the 
surveys cited in this study reflect what is commonly referred to as investment grade 
property. This typically includes only class A and good class B level real estate.   

The results of the most recent surveys are summarized in the following table. 

 

147



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 43  

OVERALL CAPITALIZATION RATES
Investor Survey OAR Range Average
National Medical Office Buildings Market 4.50% - 10.00% 6.78%
Medical Office RealtyRates.com Investor Survey 2nd Quarter 2015 5.84% - 12.87% 8.85%
Source: PwC Real Estate Investor Survey, 3rd Quarter 2016
http://www.realtyrates.com/commentaryg.html

 

The band of the investment technique is used as a cross check to the preceding. 
 

BAND OF INVESTMENT
Mortgage Interest Rate 5.76%
Mortgage Term (Amortization Period) 23 Years
Mortgage Ratio (Loan-to-Value) 63%
Mortgage Constant 0.07855
Equity Dividend Rate (EDR) 11%

Mortgage Requirement 63% x 0.07855 = 0.04949
Equity Requirement 38% x 0.11240 = 0.04271

101% 0.09220

Indicated OAR: 9.20%
http://www.realtyrates.com/commentaryg.html  

 
Personal Interviews 
I conducted a telephone survey of several real estate investors and advisors to gain 
insight into the Bishop investment market, focusing on cap rate trends. All agree that the 
investment market in second-tier cities and resort areas like Bishop are being adjusted by 
50-100+ basis points above national cap rates depending on the type of property, and 
institutional investors have never favored Bishop.   
 
Conversely, this local market is predominately owner-users.  Owner-users will adjust the 
overall rate for diminished risk, include tax benefits and other benefits of ownership ‘as 
income’; reflecting a reduction in expenditures and putting downward pressure on the 
OAR. 

OVERALL CAPITALIZATION RATE CONCLUSION 
The following chart summarizes the OAR conclusions. 
 

148



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 44  

OVERALL CAPITALIZATION RATE - CONCLUSION
Source Indicated OAR
Comparable Sales 7.7% - 9.0%
National Investor Survey, 2016 4.5% - 12.8%
Band of Investment 9.20%
Estimate 9.00%

 
 

Overall, an OAR in the higher portion of the range is considered appropriate for the 
following reasons: 

 

 Bishop is a second-tier area where greater risk aversion and increased market 
gyrations will be the norm. The highest quality assets with credit tenants and 
staggered, longer-term leases, located in the primary markets will be favored 
targets. 
 

 Rising health care costs and the desire for accessible medical services are 
benefitting the national medical office buildings market. However; cost pressures 
and locational preferences are moving services out of the primary-care hospital 
setting. More medical providers are seeking tenancy in well-located retail centers.   
 

An overall rate of 9.0% is concluded for the Subject’s analysis.   

DIRECT CAPITALIZATION SUMMARY 
The direct capitalization summary of the Subject’s market value is shown in the 
accompanying table. 

 

149



 INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 45  

DIRECT CAPITALIZATION SUMMARY

Revenue Rent $/SF Total      

Potential Rental Income

   MOB 23,311.65$   @ $1.45 279,740$          

Total Revenue 279,740$          

   Vacancy and Collection Loss 5% (13,987)$           

Net Rental Income 265,753$          

Expense Reimbursements $0.00 120,996$          

Effective Gross Income $2.00 386,749$          

EXPENSES

Real Estate Taxes $15.15 34,000$             

Property Insurance $0.75 12,058$             

Utilities (Water, Sewer and Common Area) $1.00 16,077$             

General and Administrative $1.00 16,077$             

Repairs and Maintenance (Exterior) $1.00 16,077$             

Landscaping and Security $1.00 16,077$             

Janitorial $0.00 ‐$                   

Management Fee 4% 10,630$             

Reserves for Replacement ‐                     ‐$                   

Operating Expenses $7.53 120,996$          

Operating Expense Ratio 31.29%

NET OPERATING INCOME $1.38 $265,753

OAR   /           9.00%

As Is Value $2,952,811

   Less: Lease‐up Discount $0

Total Rounded $2,950,000

Value Per SF $183.49

 

150



 RECONCILIATION OF VALUE 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 46  

RECONCILIATION OF VALUE 
The value conclusion for each applicable approach is summarized below. 

 

SUMMARY OF VALUE CONCLUSIONS

Methodology

Cost Approach $3,500,000 

Sales  Comparison Approach N/A

Income Capitalization Approach $2,950,000 

 
 

In the current market, values are below replacement cost; therefore buyers are choosing 
to purchase existing buildings rather than building-to-suit.  Hence, cost to construct is not 
one of the criteria being considered when a purchase decision is made.  However; due 
to the significant cost involved with development of a MOB the Cost Approach applies 
to the Subject.  

The Cost Approach to value is reliable, as a market indicator, when the building is new, 
or nearly new, represents the site’s highest and best use, and land values are readily 
estimated from market data.  As the structure becomes older, it is more difficult to 
accurately estimate the accumulated physical, functional, and economic 
obsolescence.   

Due to the above and the limited volume of comparable on-campus land sales; the Cost 
Approach is considered less applicable and is used primarily as a test of reasonableness. 

The Sales Comparison Approach is the most direct approach to value and is generally 
the most easily understood.  However, no comparable sales of MOB are available in the 
area.  Two sales of dental offices, purchased by an existing partner, are used in the 
Income Capitalization Approach.  These sales are not comparable to the Subject, 
therefore; the Sales Comparison Approach is not used.  
 
None of the market data represent investor participation.  The primary market 
participants are owner-users. Owner-users place significant emphasis on utility of a 
property rather than its investment value.   
 
The Income Capitalization Approach applies to the Subject property since it is an income 
producing property that may be leased in the open market.  This approach, in which 
anticipated benefits of ownership are converted into an indication of value, reflects the 
thinking of the knowledgeable investors in an income-producing investment property.  
The concluded value by the Income Approach was considered to be an accurate 
indicator of the Subject property’s value if it were sold to an investor desiring to lease the 
building and is given significant emphasis in the final value reconciliation.   
 

151



 RECONCILIATION OF VALUE 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 47  

My opinion of the “as is” market value, subject to the attached Certification, Limiting 
Conditions and Special Assumptions, is: 
 

OPINION OF MARKET VALUE
Appraisal Premise Interest Appraised Date of Value Value Conclusion

Market Value "As Is" Fee Simple Estate January 19, 2017 2,950,000$            
  

 

152



 PARTIAL INTEREST VALUATION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 48  

PARTIAL INTEREST VALUATION 

Any division of ownership creates questions as to control and marketability.  For an 
investment property, in particular, issues of control, management, and marketability 
resulting from divided ownership are detrimental to the ownership position. 

The situation of split ownership in real estate, with the parties having proportional rights is 
common.  Normally, the separate parties function as a single entity, and issues of 
separate value do not arise.  When it does, it is normally resolved by sale of the total 
property (a partition action if court-ordered) and a proportional division of the sale 
proceeds.  In other cases, a private sale is negotiated between the parties, with one 
party buying out the other. 

In neither case does an open market sale of the partial interest occur.  Indeed, such sales 
are very rare. 

Common sense would indicate that the issues of control and management, created by 
divided ownership, would result in some discount relative to the proportional value; and 
that because of the potential problems of control and management, marketability 
would be impaired; both combining to reduce market value.   

Due to the lack of direct market evidence, I have relied primarily upon a variety of 
indirect indicators of the existence of, and amount of partial interests discount 
appropriate to the Subject partial interest.  These indirect indicators include a review of 
literature on the subject, a review of applicable court cases, and evidence from 
purchases of real estate limited partnership interests on the secondary market. 

These articles document the existence and justification of partial interest discounts.  The 
articles, however, generally do not provide a coherent or documented direct 
methodology for quantifying the amount of the discount.  This is particularly true about 
real property interests.  The articles are all in agreement that data from actual arms-
length, open market, sale transactions is inadequate (almost non-existent) to use as a 
basis. 

Subject Partial Interest Discount 
The indicated data as to real property partial interest discounts generally ranges from 
10.0% to over 30.0%.  The higher indicators are the discounts in the secondary market for 
limited partnership interests.  Due to their total lack of control and their very small 
proportional interests, this indicator requires an upward adjustment. 

The Subject consists of a single owner-occupied medical office facility with a group of 
medical professional owners.  As a result, the issue of control become less significant.  

153



 PARTIAL INTEREST VALUATION 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 49  

There are no real major decisions, with inherent decisions as to use, commitments of 
capital, requirements of financing, and similar long-term issues.   

Conclusion of Value 33.474% Undivided Interest 
I concluded a 20.0% partial interest discount to be appropriate. 
 

PARTIAL INTEREST VALUATION CONCLUSION
Fee Simple Interest (100.0%) 2,950,000$      
Pro-rata (33.474%) 33.47%
Pro-rata Value Before Partial Interest Discount 987,483$         
Adjusted for Partial Interest Discount (100.0%-20.0%) 80.00%
Value Conclusion 789,986$         

Rounded 790,000$         

 
 

154



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 50  

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
1. Unless otherwise specifically noted in the body of the report, it is assumed that title to 

the property or properties appraised is clear and marketable and that there are no 
recorded or unrecorded matters or exceptions to total that would adversely affect 
marketability or value. Cheryl Ann Bretton is not aware of any title defects nor has it 
been advised of any unless such is specifically noted in the report.  Cheryl Ann Bretton, 
however, has not examined title and makes no representations relative to the 
condition thereof.  Documents dealing with liens, encumbrances, easements, deed 
restrictions, clouds and other conditions that may affect the quality of title have not 
been reviewed.  Insurance against financial loss resulting in claims that may arise out 
of defects in the subject property’s title should be sought from a qualified title 
company that issues or insures title to real property. 

2. It is assumed that improvements have been constructed or will be constructed 
according to approved architectural plans and specifications and in conformance 
with recommendations contained in or based upon any soils report(s). 

Unless otherwise specifically noted in the body of this report, it is assumed: that any 
existing improvements on the property or properties being appraised are structurally 
sound, seismically safe and code conforming; that all building systems 
(mechanical/electrical, HVAC, elevator, plumbing, etc.) are, or will be upon 
completion, in good working order with no major deferred maintenance or repair 
required; that the roof and exterior are in good condition and free from intrusion by 
the elements; that the property or properties have been engineered in such a manner 
that it or they will withstand any known elements such as windstorm, hurricane, 
tornado, flooding, earthquake, or similar natural occurrences; and, that the 
improvements, as currently constituted, conform to all applicable local, state, and 
federal building codes and ordinances.  Cheryl Ann Bretton professionals are not 
engineers and are not competent to judge matters of an engineering nature.  Cheryl 
Ann Bretton has not retained independent structural, mechanical, electrical, or civil 
engineers in connection with this appraisal and, therefore, makes no representations 
relative to the condition of improvements.  Unless otherwise specifically noted in the 
body of the report: no problems were brought to the attention of Cheryl Ann Bretton 
by ownership or management; Cheryl Ann Bretton inspected less than 100% of the 
entire interior and exterior portions of the improvements; and Cheryl Ann Bretton was 
not furnished any engineering studies by the owners or by the party requesting this 
appraisal.  If questions in these areas are critical to the decision process of the reader, 
the advice of competent engineering consultants should be obtained and relied 
upon.  It is specifically assumed that any knowledgeable and prudent purchaser 
would, as a precondition to closing a sale, obtain a satisfactory engineering report 
relative to the structural integrity of the property and the integrity of building systems.  
Structural problems and/or building system problems may not be visually detectable.  
If engineering consultants retained should report negative factors of a material 
nature, or if such are later discovered, relative to the condition of improvements, such 
information could have a substantial negative impact on the conclusions reported in 
this appraisal.  Accordingly, if negative findings are reported by engineering 

155



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 51  

consultants, Cheryl Ann Bretton reserves the right to amend the appraisal conclusions 
reported herein. 

3. Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may 
or may not be present on the property was not observed by the appraisers.  Cheryl 
Ann Bretton has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on or in the property.  
Cheryl Ann Bretton, however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The 
presence of substances such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, 
contaminated groundwater or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the 
value of the property.  The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there 
is no such material on or in the property that would cause a loss in value.  No 
responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any expertise or engineering 
knowledge required to discover them.  The client is urged to retain an expert in this 
field, if desired. 

I have inspected, as thoroughly as possible by observation, the land; however, it was 
impossible to personally inspect conditions beneath the soil.  Therefore, no 
representation is made as to these matters unless specifically considered in the 
appraisal. 

4. All furnishings, equipment and business operations, except as specifically stated and 
typically considered as part of real property, have been disregarded with only real 
property being considered in the report unless otherwise stated.  Any existing or 
proposed improvements, on or off-site, as well as any alterations or repairs considered, 
are assumed to be completed in a workmanlike manner according to standard 
practices based upon the information submitted to Cheryl Ann Bretton.  This report 
may be subject to amendment upon re-inspection of the subject property 
subsequent to repairs, modifications, alterations and completed new construction.  
Any estimate of Market Value is as of the date indicated; based upon the information, 
conditions and projected levels of operation. 

5. It is assumed that all factual data furnished by the client, property owner, owner’s 
representative, or persons designated by the client or owner to supply said data are 
accurate and correct unless otherwise specifically noted in the appraisal report.  
Unless otherwise specifically noted in the appraisal report, Cheryl Ann Bretton has no 
reason to believe that any of the data furnished contain any material error.  
Information and data referred to in this paragraph include, without being limited to, 
numerical street addresses, lot and block numbers, Assessor’s Parcel number, land 
dimensions, square footage area of the land, dimensions of the improvements, gross 
building areas, net rentable areas, usable areas, unit count, room count, rent 
schedules, income data, historical operating expenses, budgets, and related data.  
Any material error in any of the above data could have a substantial impact on the 
conclusions reported.  Thus, Cheryl Ann Bretton reserves the right to amend 
conclusions reported if made aware of any such error.  Accordingly, the client-
addressee should carefully review all assumptions, data, relevant calculations, and 
conclusions within 30 days after the date of delivery of this report and should 
immediately notify Cheryl Ann Bretton of any questions or errors. 

156



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 52  

6. The date of value to which any of the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report 
apply, is set forth in the Letter of Transmittal.  Further, that the dollar amount of any 
value opinion herein rendered is based upon the purchasing power of the American 
Dollar on that date.  This appraisal is based on market conditions existing as of the 
date of this appraisal.  Under the terms of the engagement, I will have no obligation 
to revise this report to reflect events or conditions which occur subsequent to the date 
of the appraisal.  However, Cheryl Ann Bretton will be available to discuss the 
necessity for revision resulting from changes in economic or market factors affecting 
the subject. 

7. Cheryl Ann Bretton assumes no private deed restrictions, limiting the use of the subject 
property in any way. 

8. Unless otherwise noted in the body of the report, it is assumed that there are no 
mineral deposit or subsurface rights of value involved in this appraisal, whether they 
be gas, liquid, or solid.  Nor are the rights associated with extraction or exploration of 
such elements considered unless otherwise stated in this appraisal report.  Unless 
otherwise stated it is also assumed that there are no air or development rights of value 
that may be transferred. 

9. Cheryl Ann Bretton is not aware of any contemplated public initiatives, governmental 
development controls, or rent controls that would significantly affect the value of the 
subject. 

10. The estimate of Market Value, which may be defined within the body of this report, is 
subject to change with market fluctuations over time.  Market value is highly related 
to exposure, time promotion effort, terms, motivation, and conclusions surrounding 
the offering.  The value estimate(s) consider the productivity and relative 
attractiveness of the property, both physically and economically, on the open 
market. 

11. Any cash flows included in the analysis are forecasts of estimated future operating 
characteristics are predicated on the information and assumptions contained within 
the report.  Any projections of income, expenses and economic conditions utilized in 
this report are not predictions of the future.  Rather, they are estimates of current 
market expectations of future income and expenses.  The achievement of the 
financial projections will be affected by fluctuating economic conditions and is 
dependent upon other future occurrences that cannot be assured.  Actual results 
may vary from the projections considered herein.  Cheryl Ann Bretton does not 
warrant these forecasts will occur.  Projections may be affected by circumstances 
beyond the current realm of knowledge or control of Cheryl Ann Bretton. 

12. Unless specifically set forth in the body of the report, nothing contained herein shall 
be construed to represent any direct or indirect recommendation of Cheryl Ann 
Bretton to buy, sell, or hold the properties at the value stated.  Such decisions involve 
substantial investment strategy questions and must be specifically addressed in 
consultation form. 

13. Also, unless otherwise noted in the body of this report, it is assumed that no changes 
in the present zoning ordinances or regulations governing use, density, or shape are 

157



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 53  

being considered.  The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, 
certificates of occupancy, consents, or other legislative or administrative authority 
from any local, state, nor national government or private entity or organization have 
been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimates 
contained in this report is based, unless otherwise stated. 

14. This study may not be duplicated in whole or in part without the specific written 
consent of Cheryl Ann Bretton nor may this report or copies hereof be transmitted to 
third parties without said consent, which consent Cheryl Ann Bretton reserves the right 
to deny.  Exempt from this restriction is duplication for the internal use of the client-
addressee and/or transmission to attorneys, accountants, or advisors of the client-
addressee.  Also exempt from this restriction is transmission of the report to any court, 
governmental authority, or regulatory agency having jurisdiction over the 
party/parties for whom this appraisal was prepared, provided that this report and/or 
its contents shall not be published, in whole or in part, in any public document without 
the express written consent of Cheryl Ann Bretton which consent Cheryl Ann Bretton 
reserves the right to deny.  Finally, this report shall not be advertised to the public or 
otherwise used to induce a third party to purchase the property or to make a “sale” 
or “offer for sale” of any “security”, as such terms are defined and used in the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  Any third party, not covered by the exemptions 
herein, who may possess this report, is advised that they should rely on their own 
independently secured advice for any decision in connection with this property.  
Cheryl Ann Bretton shall have no accountability or responsibility to any such third 
party. 

15. Any value estimate provided in the report applies to the entire property, and any pro 
ration or division of the title into fractional interests will invalidate the value estimate, 
unless such pro ration or division of interests has been set forth in the report. 

16. The distribution of the total valuation in this report between land and improvements 
applies only under the existing program of utilization.  Component values for land 
and/or buildings are not intended to be used in conjunction with any other property 
or appraisal and are invalid if so used. 

17. The maps, plats, sketches, graphs, photographs and exhibits included in this report 
are for illustration purposes only and are to be utilized only to assist in visualizing 
matters discussed within this report.  Except as specifically stated, data relative to size 
or area of the subject and comparable properties has been obtained from sources 
deemed accurate and reliable.  None of the exhibits are to be removed, 
reproduced, or used apart from this report. 

18. No opinion is intended to be expressed on matters which may require legal expertise 
or specialized investigation or knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real 
estate appraisers.  Values and opinions expressed presume that environmental and 
other governmental restrictions/conditions by applicable agencies have been met, 
including but not limited to seismic hazards, flight patterns, decibel levels/noise 
envelopes, fire hazards, hillside ordinances, density, allowable uses, building codes, 
permits, licenses, etc.  No survey, engineering study or architectural analysis has been 
made known to Cheryl Ann Bretton unless otherwise stated within the body of this 

158



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 54  

report.  If the Consultant has not been supplied with a termite inspection, survey or 
occupancy permit, no responsibility or representation is assumed or made for any 
costs associated with obtaining same or for any deficiencies discovered before or 
after they are obtained.  No representation or warranty is made concerning obtaining 
these items.  Cheryl Ann Bretton assumes no responsibility for any costs or 
consequences arising due to the need, or the lack of need, for flood hazard 
insurance.  An agent for the Federal Flood Insurance Program should be contacted 
to determine the actual need for Flood Hazard Insurance. 

19. Acceptance and/or use of this report constitutes full acceptance of the Contingent 
and Limiting Conditions and special assumptions set forth in this report.  It is the 
responsibility of the Client, or client’s designees, to read in full, comprehend and thus 
become aware of the aforementioned contingencies and limiting conditions.  
Neither the Appraiser nor Cheryl Ann Bretton assumes responsibility for any situation 
arising out of the Client’s failure to become familiar with and understand the same.  
The Client is advised to retain experts in areas that fall outside the scope of the real 
estate appraisal/consulting profession if so desired. 

20. Cheryl Ann Bretton assumes that the subject property analyzed herein will be under 
prudent and competent management and ownership; neither inefficient or super-
efficient. 

21. It is assumed that there is full compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local 
environmental regulations and laws unless noncompliance is stated, defined and 
considered in the appraisal report. 

22. No survey of the boundaries of the property was undertaken.  All areas and 
dimensions furnished are presumed to be correct.  It is further assumed that no 
encroachments to the realty exist. 

23. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992.  
Notwithstanding any discussion of possible readily achievable barrier removal 
construction items in this report, Cheryl Ann Bretton has not made a specific 
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether it is in 
conformance with the various detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a 
compliance survey of the property together with a detailed analysis of the 
requirements of the ADA could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one 
or more of the requirements of the ADA.  If so, this fact could have a negative effect 
on the value estimated herein.  Since Cheryl Ann Bretton has no specific information 
relating to this issue, nor is Cheryl Ann Bretton qualified to make such an assessment, 
the effect of any possible non-compliance with the requirements of the ADA was not 
considered in estimating the value of the subject property. 

24. Additional work requested by the client beyond the scope of this assignment will be 
billed at my prevailing hourly rate.  Preparation for court testimony, update valuations, 
additional research, depositions, travel, or other proceedings, will be billed at my 
prevailing hourly rate, plus reimbursement of expenses. 

25. Please note that my consent to allow an appraisal report prepared by Cheryl Ann 
Bretton, or portions of such report, to become part of or be referenced in, any offering 

159



 ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 55  

or other material intended for the review of others, or to be submitted to others, the 
granting of such consent will be at my sole discretion and, if given, will be on condition 
that I will be provided with an Indemnification Agreement and/or Non-Reliance letter, 
in a form and content satisfactory to us, by a party satisfactory to us. I do consent to 
your submission of the report to other prospective readers without the need to provide 
me with an Indemnification Agreement and/or Non-Reliance letter. 

26. In addition to the fee for this assignment, you agree to compensate me at a rate to be 
mutually agreed to, for any time expended by me should I be required (by subpoena 
or otherwise) or requested by you, your representatives or other entity to become 
involved in any litigation or legal proceeding in any way involving this engagement to 
which I am  not a party, the appraisal work I produce or the property which is the 
subject of this assignment.  You also agree to pay, on demand, all expenses which I 
incur in connection with any litigation or proceedings including the fees of my 
attorneys. 

27. You acknowledge that I am being retained hereunder as an independent contractor 
to perform the services described herein and nothing in this agreement shall be 
deemed to create any other relationship between us.  This assignment shall be deemed 
concluded and the services hereunder completed upon delivery to you of the 
appraisal report discussed herein. 

28. This study is not being prepared for use in connection with litigation and this document 
is not suitable for use in a litigation action.  Accordingly, no rights to expert testimony, 
pretrial or other conferences, deposition, or related services are included with this 
appraisal.  If, as a result of this undertaking, Cheryl Ann Bretton or any of its principals, 
its appraisers or consultants are requested or required to provide any litigation services, 
such shall be subject to the provisions of my engagement letter or, if not specified 
therein, subject to the reasonable availability of Cheryl Ann Bretton and/or said 
principals or appraisers at the time and shall further be subject to the party or parties 
requesting or requiring such services paying the then-applicable professional fees and 
expenses of Cheryl Ann Bretton either in accordance with the provisions of the 
engagement letter or arrangements at the time, as the case may be. 

160



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 56  

ADDENDA 

161



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 57  

QUALIFICATIONS 

162



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 58  

APPRAISER'S QUALIFICATIONS 

GENERAL  Cheryl A. Bretton, MAI 
 Resident: Mammoth Lakes, California 

   Post Office Box 100 PMB 466 

   Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

   Office: (760) 709-0496 

E-mail:  appraisal@cherylbretton.com  

 

PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATION AND AFFILIATION 

The Appraisal Institute: 

 Designation: MAI #12328 

Office of Real Estate Appraisers – State of California 

Designation: CA Certification – Number AGO23954 

 State of Nevada – Department of Business and Industry 

  Designation: NV Certification – License No. 04174 

 Department of Real Estate – State of California 

  Designation: Broker – Number 00863524 

 

163



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 59  

COMPARABLE LAND SALE MARKET DATA 

  

164



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 60  

Land Sale No. 1 

 

Property Identification  
Address 474 E. Line Street, Bishop, Inyo County, California 
Tax ID 001-143-25 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Howard & DL Cleland Trust 
Grantee David & Lisa Kuznitz 
Sale Date December 27, 2012  
Deed Book/Page 2012 4247 
Marketing Time 305 
Financing Cash 
Verification Jes Schwartzkopf / Mammoth Realty Group; 760 / 934-

6000 
  
Sale Price $150,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning General Commercial / C-2 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 0.310 Acres or 13,504 SF   
  

165



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 61  

Land Sale No. 1 (Cont.) 
 
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $483,871 
Sale Price/Gross SF $11.11 

 
 
Remarks  
This comparable sold at $11.11 per square foot in December 2012. The property 
consists of a 0.31-acre parcel located in the City of Bishop, East of US 395 along E. 
Line Street.  The area  is mixed use with residential and commercial, which would 
be similar to the Subject’s development, though overall superior in area with a 
downtown location. The site is developed with a 1949-built warehouse given little 
value.  The improvement will require significant updating and repairs.  
 
The property was exposed to the open market for 305 days with an original asking 
price of $299,000.  The property sold, all cash, for $150,000  in December of 2012. 
  

166



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 62  

Land Sale No. 2 

 

Property Identification  
Property Type Commerical Vacant Land 
Address 194 E. Willow Street, Bishop, Inyo County, California 

93514 
Tax ID 001-134-040 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Stater, Robin M 
Grantee Bishop Creek Lodge, Inc. 
Sale Date May 07, 2015  
Deed Book/Page 2015 1082 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Marketing Time 26 
Financing Cash 
Sale History Listed and expired at $269,000 
Verification Seller / Robin Stater; 760/934-4122, Susan O'Brian / 

Mammoth Realty Group 
  
Sale Price $190,125   
  
Land Data  
Zoning General Commercial, C-2 / City of Bishop 

167



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 63  

Land Sale No. 2 (Cont.) 
 
Topography Level 
Utilities City of Bishop 
Fencing Yes 
  

Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 0.245 Acres or 10,672 SF   
 
 
Remarks  
This comparable represents the sale of a vacant commercial lot along Willow 
Street in the city of Bishop.  The property was on and off the market for years with 
the most recent asking price of $215,000.  The site sold in May 2015 for $190,125 or, 
$17.82 per square foot to a local investor. The Seller will reserved a 'view corridor' 
via a deed restriction. 
 
In 2008, the site was purchased by the adjoining owner (4-plex) for $189,000 or, 
$17.74 per square foot.  The property was available on the open market for 273 
days @ $269,000 in May of 2007.  The site was purchased for storage and truck 
parking. 
 
   
 
  

168



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 64  

Land Sale No. 3 

 

Property Identification  
Address 686 Hammond Street, Bishop, Inyo County 
Tax ID 001-057-004 & 007 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Buck Trust 
Grantee Holman Trust 
Sale Date July 09, 2014  
Deed Book/Page 2014 1687 
Marketing Time 230 
Financing Cash 
Verification Leon Buck / Owner 
  
Sale Price $345,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning CG / R-3-P City of Bishop 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 0.360 Acres or 15,682 SF   

169



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 65  

Land Sale No. 3 (Cont.) 
 
  

Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $958,333 
Sale Price/Gross SF $22.00 
 
 
Remarks  
This comparable represents the sale of two legal lots.  The site was improved with 
an older SFR given no value.  The property sold for future development to 
multifamily residential.  The property was exposed to the open market for 230 days 
with an asking price of $345,000 and sold for $345,000 or $22.00 per square foot.   
  

170



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 66  

Land Sale No. 4 

 

Property Identification  
Address Academy Avenue, Bishop, Inyo County, California 
Tax ID 001-086-14 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor BCI Coco-Cola Bottling Co. 
Grantee Steven White 
Sale Date June 03, 2014  
Deed Book/Page 2014 1253 
Financing Cash 
  
Sale Price $125,100   
  
Land Data  
Zoning GC / C-1 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 0.110 Acres or 4,792 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $1,137,273 
Sale Price/Gross SF $26.11 

171



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 67  

Land Sale No. 4 (Cont.) 
 
 
Remarks  
This comparable represents the sale of a vacant commercial lot purchased by an 
adjoining land and business owner.  The property was not exposed to the open 
market and sold all cash for $125,100 or, $26.11 per square foot. 
  

172



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 68  

Land Listing No. 5 

 

Property Identification  
Property Name 106 Mac Iver Street 
Address 106 Mac Iver Street, Bishop, Inyo County, California 

93546 
Tax ID 008-120-020 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Salvation Army 
Grantee Salvation Army, a California Corporation 
Survey Date January 10, 2017  
Deed Book/Page 2010 0852 
Marketing Time 15 
Financing Cash 
Sale History 2010 / $550,000 
Verification Randi Pritchard / Eastern Sierra Realty; 760 / 937-4442 
  
Listing Price $490,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning Commercial General and Retail, C-1 City of Bishop 

173



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 69  

Land Listing No. 5 (Cont.) 
 
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 0.740 Acres or 32,234 SF   
  

Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $662,162 
Sale Price/Gross SF $15.20 
 
 
Remarks  
A prior sale is reported in June 2004 for $400,000 followed by the 2010 sale for 
$550,000. This site was purchased by the Salvation Army for future development to 
a community center/thrift store.  The development was scrapped and the site has 
been available on the open market for 15 days with an asking price of $490,000. 
 
 

174



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 70  

COMPARABLE LEASE DATA 
Improved Lease No. 1 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Property Identification  
Record ID 40 
Property Type Commercial, MOB 
Property Name Carkeet Dental Office 
Address 645 W. Line Street, Bishop 
Tax ID 001-110-004 
  

Physical Data  
 SF 2,244 
  
Year Built 1998  
Condition Good 
  
General Lease Data  
Tenant Brian L. Carkeet, DDS, Inc. 
Typical Lease Term Five Years 
Lease Type Modified Net 
  

175



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 71  

General Tenant 
Summary 

 

Owner Hopkins Enterprises, LP 
Verification Dr. Carkeet 
  
Remarks  
This comparable represents the lease of a wood-frame, 1998-built dental office.  
The lease commenced January 1, 2012 for a term of five years.  The monthly base 
rent was $2.92 per square foot on a modified net basis.   The lease had one year 
remaining when one of the existing two partners purchased the property. The 
owning partner agreed not to sell the premises during the term of the lease or any 
renewal term without notice of price and terms; tenant had the right to exercise a 
right-of-first-refusal.  The tenant was responsible for the interior of the premises while 
the landlord was responsible for maintenance repair and replacement of the 
exterior of the premises. 
 
The improvement consists of 2,244 square feet and includes one reception area 
and waiting room, five exam rooms, two office/conference areas, storage, break 
room and two restrooms in excellent condition. 
  

176



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 72  

Improved Lease No. 2 
 
 

 

 
Property Identification  
Record ID 41 
Property Type Commercial, MOB 
Property Name Overholtzer Dental Office 
Address 325 Grove Street, Bishop 
Tax ID 001-056-014 
  
Physical Data  
Land Size 0.130 Acres or 5,663 SF   
 SF 1,800 
  
Year Built 1982  
  
General Lease Data  
Tenant Overholtzer Property Mgmt. Inc. 
Typical Lease Term Five Years 
Lease Type Net 
  
General Tenant 
Summary 

 

Owner Talbot Trust 
Verification Dr. Overholtzer 
  
 
 

177



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 73  

Improved Lease No. 2 (Cont.) 
 
Remarks  
This comparable represents the lease of a dental office building.  The 1982-built 
improvement has interior wall finish of painted wallboard with suspended ceiling 
tiles and suspended fluorescent fixtures. The interior layout includes (1) reception 
and waiting room, (5) exam rooms, (2) office/conference areas, storage, break 
room and (2) restrooms.  The improvement has both wall heat and a forced-air 
gas system and a roof-mounted swamp cooler.  The examination rooms are tiled 
with commercial grade carpeting in corridors and reception areas. The 
foundation is of reinforced concrete slab with brick exterior decorative and 
wood-frame walls.  The roof of the building is asphalt shingle.  Plumbing 
components include two (2) restrooms, additional sink areas in each examination 
room and solar hot water. 
 
The property was leased on a ten-year term.  The existing partner purchased the 
property. 

  

178



 ADDENDA 

CA Bretton, MAI 
152 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, CA / Northern Inyo Hospital                                                                      P a g e  | 74  

Improved Lease No. 3 
 
 

Property Identification  
Property Type Commercial, Mixed Use 
Property Name Mammoth Hospital - Southern Mono Healthcare 

District 
Address 162 S. Main Street, Bishop 
Tax ID 001-182-40 
  
Physical Data  
Land Size 1.010 Acres or 43,996 SF   
 SF 6,200 
  
  
General Lease Data  
Tenant Mammoth Hospital - Southern Mono Healthcare 

District 
  
General Tenant 
Summary 

 

Owner RJG Investments LLC 
Verification Mr. Gary Myers 
  
  

This comparable represents the lease of 6,200 SF in the old Von’s building to Mammoth 
Hospital for a physical therapy office. The improvement consists of an 18,837 SF with 
retail and medical offices.  

According to Mr. Gary Myers, Mammoth Hospital CEO, the lease term is five years on a 
net basis.  Mammoth Hospital completed significant tenant improvements before 
occupying the space.  The current lease rate is $1.39 per square foot per month. 

 

179



 NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 
Title:  Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
Departments/Scope: Human Resources 
Source: Human Resources Effective Date:  
 
PURPOSE: 
 
The use of illegal drugs and alcohol misuse by employees are inconsistent with the Hospital’s 
long-standing commitment to maintain a safe, healthy, and productive work environment and a 
drug-free workplace.  Illegal drugs are controlled substances that are not being used or possessed 
under the supervision of a doctor or other licensed health care professional. 
 
Additional information about the dangers of drug abuse and alcohol misuse in the workplace, 
sources of help for drug and alcohol problems, this policy, and the consequences that may result 
from violations of this policy, is available from Human Resources. 
 
POLICY: 
 
1. Whenever employees are working, operating Hospital vehicles, machinery, or equipment, 

present on Hospital premises, or present in any other location performing services for the 
Hospital, they are prohibited from: 
 

a. using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing, distributing, dispensing or 
transferring illegal drugs; 

b. being under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol; and 
c. possessing or consuming alcohol. 

 
The Hospital acknowledges that California law permits limited uses of marijuana.  However, 
because such use is still not allowed under federal law, marijuana is considered illegal use 
under this policy.   

 
2. Employees should report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of illegal drugs 

or alcohol.  
 

3. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful possession and use of prescribed 
medications.  Employees have the responsibility to consult with their doctors or other 
licensed health care professionals about the effect of prescribed medications on their ability 
to perform their specific job duties in a safe manner, and to promptly disclose any work 
restrictions to their supervisors/managers or Human Resources.  Employees should not, 
however, disclose underlying medical conditions, impairments or disabilities unless 
specifically directed to do so by their doctors or other licensed health care professionals. 
 

180



4. Employees may possess and consume alcohol at authorized Hospital functions or in certain 
legitimate business settings such as client entertainment.  At all such times, however, 
employees are expected to act responsibly and to drink moderately (not to the point that they 
are under the influence).  The Hospital may withdraw these privileges if they are abused by 
an employee or if an employee violates this policy. 

 
 

5. The Hospital reserves the right to conduct reasonable suspicion and other drug and alcohol 
tests in accordance with the requirements of state and federal law. Any employee refusing to 
submit to a requested drug and/or alcohol test may be subject to termination of employment.  
Employees whose test or tests are positive will not be permitted to work while under the 
influence of alcohol or with a detectable level of prohibited drugs or alcohol in their system.  
They will be sent home immediately pending further action and will be given an appointment 
with the Director of Human Resources. 
 

6. The Hospital reserves the right to inspect all parts and aspects of its premises for illegal 
drugs, alcohol or other contraband.  All employees and visitors may be asked to cooperate in 
inspections of their persons, work areas and property (such as purses, lunch boxes/bags, 
briefcases, desks, lockers or cars) that might conceal illegal drugs, alcohol or other 
contraband. 
 

7. Employees who violate this policy will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action up to and 
including termination of employment.  Depending on the circumstances, an employee’s 
return to work, reinstatement and/or continued employment may be conditioned on the 
employee’s successful participation in and/or completion of a counseling, treatment, or 
rehabilitation program, the passing of a return-to-duty evaluation or follow-up drug and 
alcohol tests, and/or other appropriate conditions as determined by the Hospital. 
 

8. Employees with drug and alcohol problems are encouraged to seek help (including, for 
instance, referral to the Employee Assistance Program) before they become subject to 
discipline for violating this or other Hospital policies.  The Hospital will support, assist, and 
accommodate such employees to the extent required by applicable law.  Employees will not 
be disciplined by Hospital because they request assistance or accommodation.  Employees 
may not, however, escape discipline by requesting assistance after they violate the Hospital’s 
policies.  In addition, employees who request assistance will not be excused from complying 
with the Hospital’s policies, including its standards for employee performance and conduct. 

 
9. The Hospital has implemented a Drug-Free Awareness Program and will occasionally 

conduct meetings to inform employees of (1) the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; (2) 
this drug-free workplace policy; (3) available counseling, rehabilitation and employee 
assistance programs; and (4) penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse 
violations.  

 
 
Committee Approval   Date 
Compliance Committee       

181



Policy and Procedure Committee  
Medical Executive Committee  
Administration  
Board of Directors  
 
 

182



   
CALL TO ORDER The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Peter Watercott, President. 

 
PRESENT Peter Watercott, President 

John Ungersma MD, Vice President  
M.C. Hubbard, Secretary 
Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 
Phil Hartz, Member at Large 

 
ALSO PRESENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ABSENT 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL AND 
STATISTICAL REPORTS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 
2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 
Kelli Huntsinger, Chief Operating Officer 
Carrie Petersen, Chief Accounting Officer 
John Tremble, Interim CFO 
Maria Sirois, Chief Performance Excellence Officer 
Alison Murray, Interim Chief Human Relations Officer 
Tracy Aspel, Chief Nursing Officer 
Sandy Blumberg, Executive Assistant 
 
Joy Engblade MD, Chief of Staff 
 
Mr. Watercott asked if any members of the public wished to comment on 
any items listed on the agenda for this meeting.  No comments were 
heard. 
 
Mr. Watercott called attention to the Consent Agenda for this meeting, 
which contained the following items: 
-  Approval of minutes of the January 18 2017 regular meeting 
-  2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring, February 2017 
It was moved by Phil Hartz, seconded by John Ungersma MD, and 
unanimously passed to approve both consent agenda items as presented, 
with two housekeeping changes being made to the minutes of the January 
18 2017 regular meeting. 
 
Chief Accounting Officer Carrie Petersen called attention to the financial 
and statistical reports for the period ending December 31 2016, noting the 
following: 

-     Patient volume was down in all areas, with the exception of the  
      Emergency Department 
-     The District funded an Intergovernmental Transfer (IGT) during  
       the month, however incoming dollars from that IGT will not be    
       received  until the next accounting period 
-     Long term debt decreased as a result of bond payments made in  
      the month of December 
-     Salaries and wages were under budget and professional fees  
      expense was over budget due to the use of contracted employees 
- The bottom line excess of expenses over revenues for the month of 

December was $541,175, however year-to-date  we are at a 
positive $462,859  

183



 
 
 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
UPDATE 
 
 
CHIEF OF STAFF 
REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It was moved by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, seconded by M.C. Hubbard and 
unanimously passed to approve the financial and statistical reports for the 
period ending December 31 2016 as presented. 
 
Chief Executive Officer Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA provided an update 
on progress made toward achieving the goals of the Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (NIHD) Strategic Plan. 
 
On behalf of Chief of Staff Joy Engblade MD Doctor Flanigan reported 
following careful review, consideration, and approval by the appropriate 
Committees the Medical Executive Committee recommends approval of 
the following hospital-wide policies and procedures, protocols, and order 
sets: 

1. Cesarean Delivery (supersedes both Cesarean Deliveries – Nurses 
Responsibilities in the OR and Cesarean Delivery - Emergency 

2. Fall Risk Prevention - Perinatal 
3. Death, Disposition of Body 
4. Pronouncement of Death 
5. Scope of Services, Infusion Center 
6. Scheduling Surgical Procedures 
7. Patient Safety Attendant or 1:1 Staffing Guidelines 
8. Credentialing Healthcare Practitioners in the Event of a Disaster 
9. Medical Staff and Allied Health Professional Application Fee 

Processing 
10. Transfusion Criteria 
11. New Transfusion Reaction Document 

It was moved by Doctor Ungersma, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and 
unanimously passed to approve policies 1 through 11 as presented. 
 
Doctor Flanigan also reported the Medical Executive Committee 
recommends annual approval of the following Critical Indicators: 

• Emergency Room Service  
• Surgery, Tissue, Transfusion, and Anesthesia 
• Medicine/Intensive Care 

It was moved by Doctor Ungersma, seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and 
unanimously passed to approve all three Critical Indicators as requested. 
 
Dr. Flanigan additionally reported that following careful review, 
consideration, and approval by the appropriate Committees the Medical 
Executive Committee recommends approval of the following Medical 
Staff appointments and privileging: 

• Saif Siddiqui MD (Teleradiology) 
• Robert James MD (Pathology – Locum tenens) 

It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve both Medical Staff appointments and 
privileging as requested. 
 

184



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Medical Executive Committee additionally recommends approval of  
the following: 

• Performance Monitoring Plan – Focused Professional Practice 
Evaluation (FPPE) of Sarah Zuger MD (Family Medicine & 
OB/Gyn; evaluation methods to include direct observation, 
medical record review, and discussion with peers (including OB 
evaluation) for 5 procedures and 5 discharges (Plan set forth by 
Anne Gasior MD) 

• New Practitioner Evaluation Recommendation – (FPPE) for 
Cecilia Rhodus MD (Pediatrics).  Findings:  Practitioner has 
demonstrated competency in performing the clinical privileges 
granted, evaluation completed by Charlotte Helvie MD 

• New Practitioner Evaluation Recommendation – (FPPE) for 
Manish Pandya MD (Internal Medicine/Hospitalist).  Findings:  
Practitioner has demonstrated competency in performing the 
clinical privileges granted.  Evaluation completed by Joy Engblade 
MD 

It was moved by Mr. Hartz, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve all three FPPE plans and 
recommendations as requested. 
 
Doctor Flanigan also stated the Medical Executive Committee 
recommends the addition of “Portacath Insertion” to interventional 
radiology privileges.  It was moved by Ms. Hubbard, seconded by Doctor 
Ungersma, and unanimously passed to approve the addition to 
interventional radiology privileges as requested. 
 
Dr. Flanigan provided a Chief Executive Officer report which included 
the following: 

- The modular insert for the Pharmacy has been installed and 
Northern Inyo Hospital (NIH) is now in compliance with the 
California Board of Pharmacy (BOP).  NIHD Administration; the 
California Department of Public Health; the Office of State Wide 
Health Planning and Development (OSHPD); and the California 
BOP continue to work together to bring the hospital pharmacy into 
compliance with all three agencies 

- The District has hired Mr. Larry Weber to act as Director of 
Diagnostic Imaging and Laboratory.  Mr. Weber will be present at 
the March regular meeting for purposes of introduction. 

- The Electronic Health Record (EHR) Assessment Committee has 
been formed and will begin looking into the best EHR options 
available for the District as soon as possible 

- The hospital is looking for a new 340B vendor to replace Sentry, 
who has not fulfilled the obligations of their contract.  NIHD 
continues to partner with Dwayne's Pharmacy in the 340B 
program. 

 

185



CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF ACCOUNTING 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF NURSING 
OFFICER REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF HUMAN 
RELATIONS OFFICER 
REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF PERFOMANCE 
EXCELLENCE OFFICER 
REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISTRICT 
COMPLIANCE REPORT 
 
 

Kelli Huntsinger provided a Chief Operating Officer report which 
included an introduction of NIHD Dietician Amber Morin. Ms. Morin has 
recently implemented an outpatient referral program and is also working 
on dietary referrals with several local agencies, including Toiyabe Indian 
Health Project.    
 
Chief Accounting Officer Carrie Petersen introduced the NIHD revenue 
cycle team and provided an overview of accounting department functions 
and services including Admissions and Registration; Credit and Billing; 
Accounts Payable; Purchasing, Payroll; Veterans services; and the Charity 
Care program.   
 
Dr. Flanigan was pleased to report that Tracy Aspel RN has accepted the 
position of permanent Chief Nursing Officer for NIHD.  Ms. Aspel 
provided an update on Nursing Department activities, which included 
reporting that a permanent Perinatal Unit Nurse Manager will be coming 
on board to replace Summer Gilstrap RN, who has filled that position on a 
temporary basis.  Ms. Aspel expressed her appreciation of the outstanding 
job that Ms. Gilstrap has done for the Healthcare District.  She 
additionally provided an overview of a proposed Nursing Management 
restructure; and discussed the District’s efforts to grow its own (future) 
managers internally.  She additionally reported on the use of Nitrox in the 
perinatal unit.  
 
Interim Chief Human Relations Officer Alison Murray provided an 
overview of NIHD employee and physician recruiting efforts; as well as a 
review of current job openings with the District.  Ms. Murray noted that in 
the last year the number of contracted workers employed by the District 
has been more than cut in half, and many hard to fill positions have been 
filled with permanent employees.  Additionally, the Human Relations 
Department continues to streamline internal processes. 
 
Chief Performance Excellence Officer Maria Sirois provided a report 
which included updates on the following projects: 

- Joint Commission Accreditation monitoring 
- California Department of Public Health (CDPH) survey readiness 
- Development of a hospital-wide Quality Assurance and 

Performance Improvement Plan 
- Service Excellence Trainings for employees 
- Antibiotic Stewardship projects 
- Workplace Violence assessment 
- Language Services assessment 
- Pillars of Excellence data and reports 

 
District Compliance Officer Patty Dickson provided a compliance report 
which included a review of Protected Health Information (PHI) breaches 
for the 2016 calendar year; and a review of compliance issues, inquiries, 
and audits.  Ms. Dickson additionally stated that a Business Ethics and  

186



 
 
 
 
 
ANNUAL POLICY AND 
PROCEDURE 
APPROVALS 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
BISHOP UNION HIGH 
SCHOOL CLINIC 
UPDATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NURSING 
DEPARTMENT POLICY 
AND PROCEDURE 
APPROVALS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HOSPITAL WIDE 
POLICY AND 
PROCEDURE 
APPROVALS 
 
 

 
Compliance Committee will be established in the next couple of months, 
and Director Hubbard volunteered to serve as a member of that 
Committee. 
 
Mr. Watercott called attention to a list of Policies and Procedures 
presented for annual approval at this meeting, which were included as 
attachment "A" to the agenda for this meeting.  It was moved by Ms. 
Hubbard, seconded by Mr. Hartz, and unanimously passed to approve all 
policies and procedures submitted for annual approval as presented. 
 
 
Bishop Union High School (BUHS) Superintendent Barry Simpson 
provided an update on the progress of a proposed student health clinic 
being established on the Bishop high school campus.  The proposed clinic 
would provide students access to healthcare services relating to 
confidential and sensitive issues including pregnancy; addiction 
counseling; disease prevention; etc., as allowed for by State law.  The 
Healthcare District would potentially provide a nurse practitioner to 
provide services for students one or two days per week.  The BUHS 
School Board has yet to approve the clinic concept and is currently 
debating the controversial elements of this issue and drafting an 
informational letter for parents.  Discussion on this topic followed and it 
was noted that this may be listed as an action item on the agenda for the 
March NIHD Board meeting. Director Hartz stated his desire for this topic 
to be given more than one additional month of consideration.  It was noted 
that if approved, the clinic could potentially open in the fall of 2017. 
 
Chief Nursing Officer Tracy Aspel called attention to the following 
proposed Nursing Department policies and procedures: 

- Admission of a Pediatric Patient 
- Admission to the Acute/Sub Acute Department 
- Care Plan, Inpatient 
- Down Time Procedures for OP, PACU 
- Fixed Floating 
- Staffing Huddle 
- Surgery Charges 

• Surgery Charges, Attachment 
It was moved by Ms. Hubbard, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve all 7 policies and procedures as presented, 
with two housekeeping changes being made to the content. 
 
Interim Chief Human Relations Officer Alison Murray called attention to 
a hospital wide policy and procedure titled Exempt Employees, which has 
been updated in order to comply with current law.  It was moved by Ms. 
Kilpatrick, seconded by Mr. Hartz, and unanimously passed to approve 
the revised Exempt Employees policy and procedure as presented. 
 

187



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RADIOLOGY RFP 
PROCESS AND 
CONTRACT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISTRICT 
COMPLIANCE PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DIET MANUAL AND 
MENUS, RD's FOR 
HEALTHCARE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Doctor Flanigan also called attention to the following list of proposed or 
updated hospital wide policies and procedures: 

- Paid Absence  
- United States Postal Service Mail  
- Medicare Outpatient Observation Notice  
- Charge Master Procedures for Clinics  
- Charity Care Program  

It was moved by Director Hartz, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and 
unanimously passed to approve all 5 hospital wide policies and procedures 
as presented. 
 
Doctor Flanigan provided an overview of the Radiology Services Request 
For Proposal (RFP) and selection process recently conducted to establish 
the District’s next radiology provider agreement.  He explained that 
Tahoe Carson Radiology (TCR) has provided excellent radiology 
coverage for the District for the last several years; however the RFP 
process netted a different supplier, which is the Bishop Radiology group.  
Doctor Flanigan expressed his appreciation of TCR’s dedication to this 
community, their level of professionalism, and of the quality of services  
provided.  District legal counsel is in the process of finalizing the details 
for the new contract with Bishop Radiology, based on the guidelines 
provided in Radiology Services Exhibits A and B.  NIHD Staff radiologist 
and TCR group member Edmund Pillsbury MD spoke on behalf of TCR 
inquiring as to what their group could have done better in order to have 
been awarded the contract renewal.  Doctor Flanigan explained that many 
aspects of the Radiology RFP process are confidential; however he will 
contact TCR Administration on this subject.  It was then moved by Ms. 
Hubbard, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and passed to establish a new 
contract with the Bishop Radiology group as requested, with Director 
Hartz voting "no" on this agenda item.   
 
Compliance Officer Patty Dickson called attention to a proposed 
Compliance Program for Northern Inyo Healthcare District, noting that 
the purpose of a Compliance Plan and program is to prevent waste, fraud, 
and abuse within the organization.  Following review of the information 
provided it was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Mr. Hartz, and 
unanimously passed to approve the Compliance Program for NIHD as 
presented, with housekeeping corrections being noted. 
 
Dietician Amber Morin called attention to a Proposed Diet Manual and 
menus, prepared for the District by RD's for Healthcare Inc..  Ms. Morin 
explained improvements are constantly being made to NIHD Dietary 
services, and this new manual and menus will improve patient and 
employee food services even further.  It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, 
seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and unanimously passed to approve the RD's 
for Healthcare Inc. Diet Manual and menus as requested. 
 

188



 
CARE ACT LETTER OF 
SUPPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BOARD MEMBER 
REPORTS 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RETURN TO OPEN 
SESSION AND REPORT 
OF ACTION TAKEN 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 
Doctor Flanigan called attention to a proposed letter of support for 
reintroduction of the bipartisan Critical Access and Rural Equity (CARE) 
Act, as recommended by Interim Chief Financial Officer John Tremble. 
Passage of the CARE Act would help allow Critical Access Hospitals to 
continue to provide services to rural communities and be reimbursed by 
Medicare at an appropriate rate.  It was moved by Mr. Hartz, seconded by 
Ms. Hubbard, and unanimously passed to approve the letter of support for 
the CARE Act as presented. 
 
Mr. Watercott asked if any members of the Board of Directors wished to 
report on any items of interest.  Director Ungersma reported on the annual 
Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) Leadership 
Academy, which was recently attended by Directors Ungersma, Hubbard, 
and Kilpatrick. 
 
At 8:57 pm Mr. Watercott reported the meeting would adjourn to closed 
session to allow the Board of Directors to: 
A. Hear reports on the hospital quality assurance activities from the 

responsible department head and the Medical Staff Executive 
Committee (Section 32155 of the Health and Safety Code, and 
Government Code Section 54962). 

B. Confer with legal counsel regarding pending and threatened 
litigation, existing litigation and significant exposure to litigation, 3 
matters pending (pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9). 

C. Discuss trade secrets, new programs and services (estimated public 
session date for discussion yet to be determined)(Health and Safety 
Code Section 32106). 

D. Discussion of a personnel matter (pursuant to Government Code 
Section 54957). 
  

At 9:55 pm the meeting returned to open session.  Mr. Watercott reported 
that the Board took no reportable action. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:56 pm. 

  
 
 

 
________________________________________ 
Peter Watercott, President 

 
 
 
    Attest:   ________________________________________ 
                  M.C. Hubbard, Secretary 

189



1 

 

   

 

2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring-March 2017 
 

1. QAPI continues to receive and monitor data related to the previous CMS Validation Survey, including but not limited to, 

restraints, dietary process measures, case management, pain re-assessment, as follows: 

 

a. Advance Directives Monitoring.  

 

 
 

b. Positive Lab Cultures are being routed to Infection Prevention and each positive is being investigated as to source.  

Monitoring has been ongoing and reported through Infection Control Committee.  QAPI receives data.   

 

c. Safe Food cooling monitored for compliance with approved policy and procedure.  100% compliance since May 6, 

2013. 

 

d. Dietary hand washing logs have been reported and are at 100% compliance since May 6, 2013. 

 

 

e. QAPI continues to monitor dietary referrals and the number of consults completed within 24 hours.  

 

 

 

190



2 

 

 
 

 

f. Care plans reviewed by Case Management and interventions made to produce care plans. Progress has been made in  

developing individualized care plans. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

191



3 

 

g. Fire drill date, times, attendance and outcomes, smoke detector tests, and fire extinguisher test grids have been 

approved.  All fire drills were complete and compliant from May 6, through present.  

 

 

h. Pain Re-Assessment. NIH conducts pain re-assessment after administering pain medications and uses a 1-10 scale.  

 

 

 
    

 

 

 

192



4 

 

   

 
   Note: Due to small sample sizes in the ICU, results should be interpreted with caution for this unit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

193



5 

 

Table 6. Restraint chart monitoring for legal orders. 

 Aug 

2016 

Sept 

2016 

Oct 

2016 

Nov 

2016 

Dec 

2016 

Jan 

2017 

Feb 

2017 

Goal 

Restraint verbal/written 

order obtained within 1 hour 

of restraints 

1/1 

(100%) 

1/1 

(100%) 

1/2 

(50%) 

1/1 

(100%) 

2/2 

(100%) 

2/2 

(100% 

1/1 

(100%) 

100% 

Physician signed order 

within 24 hours 

1/1 
(100%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

1/2 
(50%) 

 

0/1 
(0%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

½ 
(50%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

100% 

Physician Initial Order 

Completed (all areas 

completed and 

form/time/date noted/signed 

by MD and RN) 

0/1 

(0%) 

0/1 

(0%) 

0/2 

(0%) 

0/1 

(0%) 

2/2 

(100%) 

0/2 

(0%) 

1/1 

(100%) 

100% 

Physician Re-Order 

Completed (all areas 

completed and form 

time/date/noted/signed by 

MD and RN) 

0/1 

(0%) 

N/A 2/4 

(50%) 

1/3 

(33%) 

2/2 

(100%) 

3/9 

(33%) 

0/1 

(0%) 

100% 

Orders are for 24 hours 2/2 

(100%) 

1/1 

(100%) 

5/6 

(83%) 

4/4 

(100%) 

4/4 

(100%) 

11/11 

(100%) 

2/2 

(100%) 

100% 

Is this a PRN (as needed) 

Order 

0/2 

(0%) 

0/1 

(0%) 

0/6 

(0%) 

0/4 

(0%) 

0/4 

(0%) 

0/11 

(0%) 

0/2 

(0%) 

0% 

 

 
 

 
 

 

194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



 
 

TO:  NIHD Board of Directors 
FROM: Joy Engblade, MD, Chief of Medical Staff 
DATE:  March 7, 2017 
RE:  Medical Executive Committee Report 

 

The Medical Executive Committee met on this date. Following careful review and consideration, the Committee 
agreed to recommend the following to the NIHD Board of Directors: 

 

1. Policy/Procedure/Protocols/Order Sets (Action items) 
• Administration of Drugs: Patient’s Own Medications 
• Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) 
• Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 
• Misoprostol for Cervical Ripening 
• Opioids Waste Policy 
• Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 
• Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) 
• Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Policy 
• Skin Preparation in the Perioperative 
• Cleaning and Processing da Vinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 
• Fern Testing 
• Training and Competency in Fern Testing 

 
2. Hospital-Wide QAPI Plan – Annual Evaluation Calendar Year 2016 (Information item) 

 
3. Hospital-Wide QAPI Plan – Annual Work Plan Fiscal Year 2017-18 (Action item) 

 
4. Hospital-Wide QAPI Plan (Action Item) 

 
 
 
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Joy Engblade, MD, Chief of Staff 

NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District  
150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California 93514 

    
    Medical Staff Office 
     (760) 873-2136        voice 
     (760) 873-2130        fax  

 

203



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Administration of Drugs: Patient's Own Medications 

Scope: Hospital-Wide Manual: CPM - Medication (MED), 

Pharmacy 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date: Not Approved Yet 

 

 

PURPOSE:  

 

To insure the quality and integrity of medications brought to the hospital by patients and 

administered by NIH personnel. To comply with Title 22 CCR 70263  

 

 

POLICY: 
1. ADMINISTRATION OF PATIENT’S OWN MEDICATIONS  

 
a. A patient's personal medications will not be administered unless not 

stocked within the hospital and specifically ordered by the prescribing 
practitioner responsible for the patient.  Patients may self-administer 
medications only in accordance with the “Administration of Drugs: Self-
Administration” policy and procedure. 

 
b. There must be a complete written order, name of the medication, strength, 

dose, route and frequency, by the prescriber for the nurse to administer the 
patient’s own medications.  All medications for patient administration 
must be positively identified by a pharmacist (A nurse cannot do this). 

 
c. Medications identified for administration in accordance with this policy 

shall be sent to the pharmacy for repackaging and dispensing 
 

d. Emergency Room patients will not take their own medications unless it is 
not stocked within the hospital and a physician writes an order for 
“patient’s to take their own medication including the order requirements in 
part b.  The pharmacist and/or physician will need to identify/verify the 
medication prior to administration. If an emergency patient brings in 
his/her own medications, physician will review and have the ED nurse 
enter the home medications into the Paragon system. 

 
2. IDENTIFICATION OF PATIENT’S OWN MEDICATIONS 

 
a. Medications brought into the facility by patients will not be administered 

unless the medication containers are clearly and properly labeled, the 
drugs have been positively identified, their quality and integrity is not 
questionable, and documentation of such identification is made on the 
Medication Administration Record. 

 
b. A pharmacist must examine and positively identify a patient’s personal 

drugs.  Documentation of patients’ own medication identification shall be 
made on the MAR by the statement “Identified by [identifier’s initials]. 

 

204



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Administration of Drugs: Patient's Own Medications 

Scope: Hospital-Wide Manual: CPM - Medication (MED), 

Pharmacy 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date: Not Approved Yet 

 

 

c. Patient’s own drugs shall be entered on the MAR as “patient’s own med” 
along with the name, strength, route, and dosage.  Nurses will document 
administration of patient’s own medications per general administration 
policies. 

 
3. STORAGE OF PATIENT’S OWN MEDS—NON CONTROLLED 

SUBSTANCES 
 

a. Patient’s own medications brought in to the hospital that are not to be 
administered to the patient in accordance with this policy will be sent 
home with the patient’s family or representative if possible.  Nursing staff 
will initially fill out the medication reconciliation before sending the 
medications home with the family or patient’s agent. 
 

b. In the event the patient’s medications cannot returned home, they may be 
stored in the pharmacy according to the following process: 

 
i. Patient’s home medications will be packaged in a sealable 

“Patient’s Medicine Inventory” security bag and stored in a locked 
cabinet located on Med Surg’s medication room. 

ii. The nurse will write the patient’s name and ID on the face of the 
security bag.  The nurse will, in the presence of the patient or 
patient’s representative, count the number of bottles and list the 
bottle with the name of the medication as stated on the prescription 
label.  The nurse will not open or inventory the prescription bottles 
but only note the number of bottles and the label on each. 

iii. The nurse will seal the bag in the presence of the patient or 
patient’s representative.  The nurse will sign the bag and give the 
tear off receipt to the patient or patient’s representative. 

iv. Nursing staff will call pharmacy to inform them that home 
medications are in the locked cabinet. 

v. If it is after hours, please communicate with the oncoming shift to 
notify Pharmacy the next day in AM. 

vi. Pharmacy staff will secure the sealed bag within the pharmacy for 
the duration of the patient’s stay 

vii. Upon discharge, the patient will receive his/her sealed medication 
bag back.  Unclaimed patient meds will be destroyed after 30 days 
per section 5 below. 
. 

 
 

 

 

205



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Administration of Drugs: Patient's Own Medications 

Scope: Hospital-Wide Manual: CPM - Medication (MED), 

Pharmacy 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date: Not Approved Yet 

 

 

 
4. USE OF PATIENT’S OWN MEDS—CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES 

 

a. Patients’ own controlled substance prescriptions must be brought to the 

pharmacy prior to administration to the patient.  The controlled substances 

will be inventoried and recorded into the pharmacy’s stock of controlled 

substances. 

 

b. Pharmacy will produce a label for single doses of the medication and will 

package single unit doses for distribution to the nursing unit of the patient. 

 

c. No more than a 12 hour supply will be dispensed to the patient’s 

medication nurse.  

 

d. The number of doses dispensed will be recorded in the pharmacy and 

reconciled each day with the electronic MAR record of administrations. 

 
 
 
 

5. DESTRUCTION OF UNRETURNED DRUGS 
 

a. Personal drugs from expired patients and personal drugs on hand more 
than thirty (30) days after discharge shall be destroyed in accordance with 
applicable law. 

 
b. Drugs listed in Schedules II, III or IV of the Federal Comprehensive Drug 

Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, as amended, shall be 
destroyed in the presence of two pharmacists or a pharmacist and a 
registered nurse employed by the hospital. 

 
c. The name of the patient, the name and strength of the drug, the 

prescription number, the amount destroyed, the date of destruction and the 
signatures of the witnesses required above shall be recorded in a separate 
log.  Such log shall be retained for at least three years. 

 
d. Drugs not listed under Schedules II, III or IV of the Federal 

Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, as 

amended, shall be destroyed in the presence of a pharmacist. 

 

PROCEDURE: 

NA 

206



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Administration of Drugs: Patient's Own Medications 

Scope: Hospital-Wide Manual: CPM - Medication (MED), 

Pharmacy 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date: Not Approved Yet 

 

 

 

Committee Approval   Date 

Clinical Consistency Oversight Committee 1/25/17 

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee 2/16/17 

Medical Executive Committee 3/7/17 

Board of Directors  

 

Revised 9/12, 6/15. 01/17 

Reviewed 7/05, 10/06, 10/07, 9/08, 9/09, 9/10, 9/11,6/15 

Supersedes       

 

 

Reference:  The Compliance Guide to the JACHO’s Medication Management Standards, 

Second Edition 

 

 

Cross Reference:  Administration of Drugs and Biological  

 

207



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) 

Scope: Pharmacy and  Nursing Manual:   Pharmacy, Infusion Center 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date:  10 FEB 2017 

 

 

POLICY:  Use of Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) for the administration of cytotoxic 

chemotherapy. 

 

At the effective date of this policy, Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) will adopt the use 

of a CTSD for administration of cytotoxic chemotherapy. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

Numerous studies demonstrate that there is measureable exposure to cytotoxic chemotherapy in 

health care personnel who prepare and administer cytotoxic chemotherapy.
1-6

    

The Centers for Disease Control, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) 

recommend that health care institutions adopt measures to decrease healthcare worker exposure 

to hazardous medications.
7
  The new United States Pharmacopeia (USP) chapter 800 will 

mandate the use of a CSTD for administration of all cytotoxic medications in the near future. 
8 

There are several CSTD systems available all of which have demonstrated ability to reduce 

healthcare worker exposure to cytotoxic medications. 

 

PROCEDURE: 

NIHD will implement a CSTD for the administration of the chemotherapeutic medications listed 

in appendix A which are administered Intravenously, Intramuscularly, Subcutaneously or via 

bladder irrigation. 

Pharmacy will purchase and supply CSTD equipment. 

Appendix A will be a supplement to this policy which will be updated by the Pharmacy and 

Therapeutics Committee annually.  Modification of Appendix A will not require an update to the 

policy. 

Pharmacy personnel will use the CSTD according to manufacturer’s instructions for all 

chemotherapy drugs in Appendix A. 

Nursing personnel will use the CSTD according to the manufacturer’s instructions for 

administering all chemotherapy drugs in Appendix A. 

Unit managers will be responsible for ensuring that personnel have completed and documented 

appropriate proprietary training for the chosen CSTD. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1.  Connor TH, Anderson RW, Sessink PJ, et al.  Effectiveness of a closed-system device in 

containing surface contamination with cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide in an IV 

admixture area. Am J Health-Syst Pharm. 2002;50(1):68-72 

208



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) 

Scope: Pharmacy and  Nursing Manual:   Pharmacy, Infusion Center 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date:  10 FEB 2017 

 

 

2. Spivey S, Connor TH.  Determination of sources of workplace contamination with 

antineoplastic drugs and comparison of conventional IV drug preparation versus a closed 

system. Hosp Pharm. 2003;38:135-139. 

3. Wick C, Slawson MH, Jorgenson JA, et.al. Using a closed system protective device to 

reduce personnel exposure to antineoplastic agents. Am J Heath-syst Pharm. 

2003;60(22):2314-2320. 

4. Harrison BR, Peters BG, Bing MR.  Comparison of surface contamination with 

cyclophosphamide and fluorouracil using a closed-system drug transfer device versus 

standard preparation techniques. Am J Health-Syst Pharm. 2006;63(18):1736-1744. 

5. Nyman H, Jorgensen J, Slawson MH. Workplace contamination with antineoplastic 

agents in a new cancer hospital using a closed-system drug transfer device. Hosp Pharm. 

2007;42:219-225. 

6. Sessnick PJM, Connor TH, Jorgenson JA, et.al.  Reduction in surface contamination with 

antineoplastic drugs in 22 hospital pharmacies in the US following implementation of a 

closed-system drug transfer device.  J Oncol Pharm Prac. 2011;17(1)39-28 

7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Institute for Occupational Safety 

and Health. Preventing Occupational Exposures to Antineoplastic and Other Hazardous 

Drugs in Health Care Settings, https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2004-165/pdfs/2004-

165sum.pdf   accessed 16 January 2017. 

8. United States Pharmacopeial Convention. General chapter <800> Hazardous Drugs-

Handling in Healthcare settings. 

http://www.usp.org/sites/default/files/usp_pdf/EN/m7808_pre-post.pdf  accessed 16 

January 2017. 

 

CROSS REFERENCES: 

1.  

 

Approval Date 

P&T 02/16/2017 

MEC 03/07/2017 

BOD  

Developed:  

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Index: 

Supersedes:                                         

209

https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2004-165/pdfs/2004-165sum.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2004-165/pdfs/2004-165sum.pdf
http://www.usp.org/sites/default/files/usp_pdf/EN/m7808_pre-post.pdf


NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) 

Scope: Pharmacy and  Nursing Manual:   Pharmacy, Infusion Center 

Source: Director of Pharmacy Effective Date:  10 FEB 2017 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

HAZARDOUS CHEMOTHERAPY MEDICATIONS REQUIRING USE OF A CLOSED-

SYSTEM TRANSFER DEVICE WITHIN NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE 

DISTRICT (JAN 2017) 

Antimetabolites: 

 Cladribine 

 Cytarabine 

 Fludarabine 

 5-Fluorouracil 

 Gemcitabine 

 Methotrexate 

Antitumor Antibiotic: 

 Bleomycin 

Epipodophyllotoxins: 

 Etoposide 

 Teniposide 

Taxnes: 

 Paclitaxel 

 Docetaxel 

Vinca Alkaloids:  

 Vinblastine 

 Vincristine 

 Vinorelbine 

Alkylating Agents: 

 Busulfan 

 Cyclophosphamide 

 Mechlorethamine 

 Thiotepa 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Anthrocayclines: 

 Daunorubicin 

 Doxorubicin 

 Epirubacin 

 Idarubicin 

 Mitoxantrone 

Camptothecins:  

 Irinotecan 

 Topotecan 

Platinum Analogs: 

 Cisplatin 

 Carboplatin 

 Oxaliplatin 

Monclonal Antibiodies: 

Afatinib 

Bortezomib 

Carfilzomib 

Pertuzumab 

 

210



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 

Scope: Laboratory, Perinatal, Social Services Manual:  CPM – Patient Safety (PS) 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date: 10/16/2007 

 

PURPOSE: 

To comply with CA Health & Safety Code Section 123605, and Penal Code Section 11165.3 and to help protect 

infants who have been exposed to drugs or alcohol prenatally and thus who may be at risk for withdrawal or 

parental neglect   

 

POLICY: 

1. NIH will file a CPS report and request an evaluation by the Inyo County Child Protective Services 

(hereafter CPS) Social Worker or other qualified Health Care Provider, (hospital social 

worker/physician/nurse) for all infants with a history of passive exposure to drugs and alcohol.   

2. Arrangements will be made for appropriate follow-up services prior to the infant’s discharge. 

3. All mothers and newborns identified as high risk will be referred to the NIH social worker. 

 

The attending physician will order The Drugs of Abuse Screen on the newborn (detecting amphetamines, 

cannabis (hereafter THC), cocaine, opiates, benzodiazepines, phencyclidines, barbiturates and tricyclic 

antidepressants). The urine test provides only a preliminary result.  A meconium or cord tissue sample for drug 

screening should be ordered by the infant’s physician when indicated, after consultation with the mother’s 

physician and social worker.   

 

Maternal High Risk Factors:  

a. Late prenatal care (hereafter PNC) (<4visits), no PNC, or PNC in another area with no transfer to local 

care provider. 

b. History of substance use (in the last 4 years), even if mother denies recent use 

c. Suspicion of substance use based on physician or nursing observations (e.g., tracks, signs of intoxication 

or withdrawal, etc.) 

d. Actively undergoing treatment in a substance abuse program 

e. Home deliveries 

f. Suspected or confirmed placental abruption 

g. Pre-term labor 

h. Low birth weight infant 

i. Past births of substance-exposed newborns 

j. Prior hospital/ED visit related to substance abuse 

 

4. The MD will order testing on any mother who is suspected (i.e., per Maternal High Risk Factors listed 

above) or self-reports using alcohol or illicit drugs will have a urine drug screen obtained to establish the 

presence of drug metabolite.  These mothers will be questioned as to any history of alcohol or drug use and 

will be informed that it is hospital policy that any mother with any risk factors will be tested for Drugs Of 

Abuse, as will their infants (It should be explained that these substances may have significant effects on 

their baby, which may influence the care they need).  

 

5. Upon admission of a mother who meets the above criteria, the labor nurse will consult the attending 

physician and if ordered will obtain the mother’s urine sample (minimum of 10ml) before she receives any 

analgesia or sedation, and send the sample ASAP to the lab for a Drugs of Abuse Screen.  Upon delivery, 

the delivery nurse will collect an umbilical cord segment, follow chain of custody, and send to lab to hold 

until determined if the cord segment will be sent for testing. When the labor nurse is collecting the urine 

sample, the mother is to be notified of the following:   

a. We are going to screen her urine for drugs of abuse. 
211



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 

Scope: Laboratory, Perinatal, Social Services Manual:  CPM – Patient Safety (PS) 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date: 10/16/2007 

 

b. We may be collecting and screening the baby’s first urine, meconium, or piece of cord for drug testing.  

 

6. The nurse’s notes are to reflect that all of the above was communicated to the mother and that she 

understood.  The nurse must also carefully chart all of the signs and symptoms of the mother’s suspected or 

self-reported substance abuse. If the patient refuses a drug screen, the nurse must document in her nurses 

notes and report incident to physician. 

 

7. Any infant who is questionably symptomatic for withdrawal, i.e. showing clinical signs associated with 

withdrawal from alcohol or drugs, including jitteriness, irritability, seizures, hyper or hypo-tonia, apnea, 

tachypnea, abnormal cry, sleep and feeding patterns, microcephaly, whose mother has a high-risk factor 

stated earlier, or mother acknowledges recent drug use, the Pediatrician needs to be notified and order 

received to obtain urine, meconium or cord sample for drug testing. 

 

8. Collection of mother’s urine for Drugs of Abuse Screen specimen and completion of Laboratory Order: 

a. Verify the identification of the individual to be tested using the arm band and compare identification to 

the patient sticker, the request slip and specimen container. 

b. If possible, have the mother urinate directly into the correctly labeled specimen container. 

c. Close the lid on the specimen container, and identify specimen by: Your initials, time/date of collection 

d. On Computer order management “Urine for Drugs of Abuse Screen.” 

 

9. Collection of infant’s urine or meconium: 

a. Verify the identification of the infant to be tested using the arm band and compare identification to the 

patient sticker, the request slip and specimen container. 

b. The infant’s urine or meconium will be obtained via urine bag (may use cotton balls in bag to obtain 

urine and squeeze into the specimen container) or meconium from the diaper (using a clean tongue 

depressor stick into the specimen container). 

c. Close the lid on the specimen container. Chain of custody paperwork and process will be followed as 

instructed on the chain of custody paper. 

d. On computer order management order urine, meconium, or cord sample for drug screen. 

 

10. Chart in nurses notes that specimen was obtained and taken to the Lab.  Notify Social Services of admission 

of “at-risk” mom and baby. Enter the order for a social worker consultation. The hospital social worker will: 

a. Perform an assessment to determine any patient’s insight into risk factors and influence on newborn, as 

well as motivation to seek treatment or support. 

b. Work with Attending MD and assist per request. 

c. Make a referral to Child Protective Services in writing based on the Health & Safety Code Section 

123605, and Penal Code Section 11165.3.  The physicians caring for both mother and infant must be 

notified of this report, to be sure that a follow-up is done. This verbal report to CPS must be made within 

24 hours of a positive drug screen result. Drug screen results will be sent to CPS, even if the newborn 

and mother have been discharged. 

 

If the hospital social worker is not available, the provider (RN, LVN, or MD) providing care must file the CPS 

report.  

 

 

 
212



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 

Scope: Laboratory, Perinatal, Social Services Manual:  CPM – Patient Safety (PS) 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date: 10/16/2007 

 

REFERENCES: 

 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE – HSC 

 

 Division 106. Personal Health Care (Including Maternal, Child, and Adolescent) [123100-125850] 
(Division 106 added by Stats. 1995, Ch. 415, Sec.8.) 

 

 Part 2. Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health [123225-124250] (Part 2 added by Stats. 1995, Ch. 

415, Sce. 8) 

 

 Chapter 2. Maternal Health [123375-123620] (Chapter 2 added by Stats. 1995, Ch. 415, Sec. 8) 

 

Article 4. Perinatal Health Care [123550-123610] (Article 4 added by Stats. 1995, Ch. 415, Sec. 8) 

   

123605 (a) Each county shall establish protocols between county health departments, county welfare 

departments, and all public and private hospitals in the county, regarding the application and use of an 

assessment of the needs of, and a referral for, a substance exposed infant to a county welfare department 

pursuant to Section 11165.13 of the Penal Code.  

(b)  The assessment of the needs shall be performed by a health practitioner, as defined in Section 11165.8 of 

the Penal Code, or a medical social worker. The needs assessment shall be performed before the infant is 

released from the hospital.  

(c)  The purpose of the assessment of the needs is to do all of the following:  

(1)  Identify needed services for the mother, child, or family, including, where applicable, services to assist the 

mother caring for her child and services to assist maintaining children in their homes.  

(2)  Determine the level of risk to the newborn upon release to the home and the corresponding level of services 

and intervention, if any, necessary to protect the newborn’s health and safety, including a referral to the county 

welfare department for child welfare services.  

(3)  Gather data for information and planning purposes.  
(Added by Stats. 1995, Ch. 415, Sec. 8. Effective January 1, 1996.) 

PENAL CODE – PEN 

 Part 4. Prevention of Crimes and Apprehension of Criminals [11006-11460] (Title 1 added by Stats. 1953, 

Ch. 1385) 

 Title 1. Investigation and Control of Crimes and Criminals [11150-11199.5] (Chapter 2 added by Stats. 1953, 

Ch.70) 

 Chapter 2. Control of Crimes and Criminals [11150-11199.5] (Chapter 2 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 70.) 

Article 2.5 Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act [11164-11174.3] (Heading of Article 2.5 amended by Stats. 1987, 

Ch. 1444, Sec. 1.) 

11165.3.   

As used in this article, “the willful harming or injuring of a child or the endangering of the person or health of a 

child,” means a situation in which any person willfully causes or permits any child to suffer, or inflicts thereon, 

unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering, or having the care or custody of any child, willfully causes or 

213



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 

Scope: Laboratory, Perinatal, Social Services Manual:  CPM – Patient Safety (PS) 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date: 10/16/2007 

 

permits the person or health of the child to be placed in a situation in which his or her person or health is 

endangered. 

(Amended by Stats. 2004, Ch. 842, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

Approval   Date 

CCOC 2/27/17 

P&T 2/16/17 

Peri-peds 2/9/2017 

MEC 3/7/2017 

BOD  

 

Developed: 

Revised: 10/07 jk, 1/09 jk, 1/17SG, HF 

Reviewed: 9/12jk 

Index Listings: 

Supersedes: 

 

 

 

214



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: 

Scope: Departmental Department:  Obstetrics 

Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date:  7/2009 

Misoprostol can be used for cervical ripening or labor induction in the third trimester of 

pregnancy.   

POLICY: 

Patients undergoing cervical ripening or labor induction with Misoprostol should undergo fetal 

heart rate monitoring and uterine activity monitoring in a hospital setting in the perinatal unit.   

CONTRAINDICATIONS: 

1. Placenta previa, abruptio placenta or unexplained vaginal bleeding

2. Asthma, glaucoma, or cardiac, renal or hepatic disease

3. Previous C/S or major uterine surgery

4. Patients on Pitocin.  (Pitocin should not be started until at least 4 hours after the last dose

of Misoprostol.  If the patient was on Pitocin, you should wait at least 30 minutes prior to

using Misoprostol.)

PROCEDURE: 

1. Obtain informed consent and place on the chart.  Physicians will discuss the risks and

benefits including possible side effects of the medication prior to administration of

the medication.  This may be done in the office but documentation will be on the NIH

record.

2. Nursing should complete a full nursing assessment including vital signs prior to this

procedure.  Cervical exam should indicate less than 2 cm dilated and 50% effaced, or

Bishop score of less than 7, and the patient has less than 4 contractions per 10

minutes.

3. Complete an EFM baseline strip.

4. Patients will remain on CEFM for 1-2 hours after the initial dose.  At least a 20-

minute strip every hour thereafter.

5. If at any time the EFM changes to a category III strip, the MD will be notified and

continuous monitoring will resume.  Fetal Resuscitation should begin.

6. Medication administration:

a. The MD or CNMW will order the dosing.  Insertion may be by the MD,

CNMW or L&D RN.

b. NPO for the first dose for 1-2 hours

c. IV of LR with18 gauge needle rate per MD

d. Have the patient empty their bladder prior to each dose.

e. Insert dose (per MD order sheet) into the posterior fornix of the vagina.  Do

not use lubricating jelly.  You may use normal saline or sterile water.

f. Patient should remain on bedrest after the insertion up to 2 hours.  They may

ambulate and empty their bladder prior to the next dose.

Misoprostol for Cervical Ripening

215



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: 

Scope: Departmental Department:  Obstetrics 

Source: OB Nurse Manager Effective Date:  7/2009 

g. The dose may be repeated every 3-6 hours up to a maximum of 6 doses in 24

hours.  Withhold doses if there are two or more painful contractions in 10

minutes, has adequate cervical ripening (Bishop score greater than 8, 80%, 3

cm dilated), patient enters active labor, has hyperstimulation or tachysystole

or EFH shows a category III strip.

h. Vital signs should be monitored including BP and pulse every hour,

temperature and respirations every 4 hours.

Note:  For hyperstimulation, change patient position such as left or right side, 

apply oxygen, consider tocolytics, if ordered by MD, such as Terbutaline or 

Magnesium and/or attempting to flush remaining dose from the vaginal vault with 

normal saline.   

DOCUMENTATION: 
Document on designated forms 

1. Assessment

2. Interventions and responses

3. Medications times and dose

4. Patient education and care plan

Committee Approval  Date 

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee 02/16/2017 

Perinatal/Pediatrics Committee 11/07/2016 

Medical Executive Committee 03/07/2017 

Board of Directors 

Revised 7/2009 JK, 

7/2011jk, 

8/2016 SG 

Reviewed 7/2011jk, 

8/2016 SG 

Supercedes 

Misoprostol for Cervical Ripening

216



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: 

Scope: Hospital wide Manual: 

Source: Effective Date: 12/16/15 

PURPOSE:  

To ensure the safe handling and wasting of opioids. 

DEFINITION:  Two licensed personnel (i.e. 2 RN’s, RN + LVN or 1 RN + Pharmacist, RN + 

pharmacy technician, RN + physician) will document wasting and destruction of controlled 

substances, the person who wastes the medication and a witness.  The witness must physically 

witness the destruction and wasting. 

POLICY: 

1. Medications must be stored and transferred to the patient for administration in their

original container, containers prepared by the pharmacy, or in labeled syringes together

with the original container.

2. Medications must be in the possession of a licensed person at all times from the receipt

of the medication to the time of administration.

3. Medications may be administered to the patient, returned to the Omnicell as credit if not

administered to the patient, or wasted in accordance with this policy.

4. Controlled substances shall be handled in accordance with the procedure in this policy.

5. Any unused portion of controlled substances must be destroyed beyond reclamation, and

disposed of appropriately.  The destruction and wasting process must be witnessed and

documented appropriately on the medication automated dispensing cabinet (Omnicell)

by the individual wasting and the witness.

6. Return any non-administered controlled substances to the automated dispensing cabinet

(Omnicell) return bin by selecting the name of the drug to be returned; this also cancels

the charge.

7. All controlled medications (CII to CV) wasted must be recorded in Omnicell).

8. Pharmacy runs an Omnicell report daily and tracks all controlled substances which are

dispensed, administered and wastes.

PROCEDURE: 

1. Retrieve the opioid from the Omnicell (automated dispensing cabinet)

2. Compare and verify the medication against the electronic medication administration

record (eMAR).

3. When controlled substances are unusable, the dose should be discarded in the

pharmaceutical waster container (blue lid with white container) and the "WASTE"

function should be used to document the waste. Do not dispose of a medication in the

automated dispensing cabinet (Omnicell). Only use the Omnicell to document the

procedure.

Opioids Waste Policy

217



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: 

Scope: Hospital wide Manual: 

Source: Effective Date: 12/16/15 

4. Utilize a second licensed individual as defined above. The witness must physically

observe all destruction and waste.

a. Administration and wasting of parenteral opioids:

i. Open the vial or carpuject with the witness

ii. Withdraw the correct dosage amount into a syringe

iii. Label the syringe with the correct medication and dose

iv. Withdraw the remainder of the medication into another syringe and measure

for accuracy

v. Once the accurate amount of waste is confirmed by waste the fluid into the

pharmaceutical waste container (blue lid with white container)

vi. Dispose of the sharps into red sharps container

vii. Record the waste in the Omnicell utilizing a witness

viii. The administering RN will immediately take the medication along with the

empty vial or carpuject to the patient

ix. The administering nurse will follow standard medication administration

procedures in accordance with the Medication Bar Code Administration

Policy

b. Wasting of epidural remaining parental infusion or PCA cassettes with remaining

solutions not completed:

 Any residual volume in the PCA container is measured, wasted in the

pharmaceutical waste bin, witnessed, and documented and recorded by

two licensed staff in the EMAR.

 One licensed staff member will draw up the remaining solution with

syringe (i.e. PCA cassette) and the second licensed staff member will

witness the disposal of the total amount solution being wasted into the

pharmaceutical blue container.

c. Wasting of patches (i.e. Fentanyl):

i. Documentation of actual disposition for a full dose or any other remaining

partial dose

ii. One licensed staff member will wear gloves before folding the adhesive side

of the patch over  itself and the witness will document the disposal the patch

disposed into the pharmaceutical container (blue lid with white container)

d. Administration and wasting of oral opioids:

i. Waste of oral medication will be witnessed.  The table will be crushed and

disposed of in the pharmaceutical waste container (blue lid with white

container).  A Capsule will be opened and the contents emptied into a

pharmaceutical waste container.

ii. Nurses will follow the standard medication administration procedures in

accordance with the Medication Bar Code Administration Policy.  The same

Opioids Waste Policy

218



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: 

Scope: Hospital wide Manual: 

Source: Effective Date: 12/16/15 

RN removing the controlled substance from the Omnicell will be the one to 

administer the medication via electronic bar code scanning. 

iii. Two nurses will take the whole tablet from Omnicell to the patient’s room.

The nurse who removed the medication will be the one to administer the

partial dose to the patient.  Both nurses will return to the Omnicell to waste

the partial tablet.

iv. Cut tablet and place the tablet portion to be administered into an

administration cup

v. Place the tablet portion to be wasted into a separate administration cup

vi. Both licensed staff members will confirm waste amount

vii. Administer the oral dose to the patient

viii. Record the waste in the Omnicell utilizing the second licensed staff member

as witness

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 

1. Omnicell Automated Dispensing Cabinet Policy

2. Administration of Medications and Biological

3. Pharmaceutical and Biohazardous Waste Policy

Approval Date 

Clinical Consistency Oversight Committee 1/25/17 

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee 02/16/17 

Medical Executive Committee 03/07/17 

Board of Directors 

Developed: 6/3/15 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 12/16 

Supersedes: 

Index Listings: Medication storage, Handling, Narcotic, Opiate, Waste, Return, Disposition 

Opioids Waste Policy

219



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 

Scope: Case Management/Social Services Manual: Case Management 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date:  

Page 1 of 4 

PURPOSE:  To ensure an effective discharge plan is in place to meet the patient’s 

continuing healthcare needs post-hospitalization. Discharge Planning is an integral part of 

the hospital’s provision of care, involving the assessment and treatment of the patient’s bio, 

psycho, social needs that contribute to continuity of care to ensure a safe recovery post-

hospitalization.  The Case Management staff recognizes the relationship between 

psychosocial factors, the patients’ health/illness, the influence these factors have on the 

patient’s recovery, and the potential for re-hospitalization. The goal is to provide all 

patients with discharge planning that creates a continuity of care that includes the input 

and coordination of the interdisciplinary care team, the primary care practitioner, the 

patient and their family, and/or primary care givers. 

POLICY: 
1. Discharge planning will be conducted with all in-patients admitted to NIH, or upon request from

the Emergency Department or PACU, according to state and federal regulatory requirements.

2. Discharge planning will be conducted by either an RN or a social worker trained in the process of

effective discharge planning and case management.  Supervision and oversight of the discharge

planning process shall be by the Director of Nursing Practice.

3. A hospitalized patient and the patient’s family and/or care giver shall be given the opportunity to

participate in the discharge planning process.

4. Discharge planning evaluations will be initiated upon admission. Complete evaluations will be

conducted, at a minimum, within 24 hours of admission, unless the patient’s medical condition

prevents the evaluation, in which case the RN case manager or social worker should attempt to

engage the patient’s family to begin the evaluation process.

5. Patients shall be discharged based upon attainment of patient care goals as evident in the

interdisciplinary plan of patient care and access to sufficient resources.

6. The entire interdisciplinary care team shall have input into the discharge planning process,

including physicians, nursing staff, rehabilitation staff, social services/case managers, respiratory

staff, pharmacists, etc.

7. The discharge planning needs of the patient shall be reassessed daily during the Interdisciplinary

Care Team meetings.  Changing needs of the patient or family/caregivers shall be taken into

consideration and reflected in the discharge plan and documented.

8. If discharge plans include transferring a patient to another facility, NIH will collaborate with the

patient and/or family to make arrangements for the transfer, and include all necessary medical 

information and documentation to facilitate continuity of care. 

PROCEDURE: 
1. The discharge planning process will include the following elements:

A. Screening of all patients which includes identifying risk factors that have the potential to

create adverse health consequences to the patient post-hospitalization. Screening risk factors 

can include bio, psycho, social components such as diagnosis, age, lack of adequate 

resources or sources of support, co-existing illnesses, behavioral health issues, etc. 

B. Evaluation.  This process involves interviewing the patient, family, and/or caregivers to 

determine their needs, preferences, challenges, resources and how they are coping and 

220



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 

Scope: Case Management/Social Services Manual: Case Management 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date:  

Page 2 of 4 

adjusting to the illness and hospitalization.  The interview should attempt to ask the 

following questions and gather the following information: 

 Current living situation, including identifying any potential safety issues

 Sources of support, both financial resources and family/caregiver assistance.

 Upon discharge, will the patient be capable of performing their own ADL’s ; if not what

type of assistance will they need?

 What equipment will the patient need if they are returning home?

 What referrals are important to facilitate a safe and effective discharge? (e.g. nursing

home placement, out-pt. rehabilitation, home health services, etc.)

 Will the patient’s insurance cover post-discharge services?

 Do they have transportation to follow up appointments?

 Are there any safety concerns with this patient? (e.g. fall risk, negligent spouse or

caregiver, can the patient continue to safely drive)

 Are the patient’s family and /or caregivers competent, capable and willing to help provide

care or assistance to the patient?  How much, for how long?

 What changes have occurred in the patient’s physical or cognitive functioning that will

require adjustments in the services or support provided to the patient post-discharge? (e.g.

has the pt. moved from one level of care to another?)

 Has there been a change in the patient’s cognitive functioning and executive decision-

making ability?  Are they capable of making sound decisions regarding their post-

hospital needs?

 Does the patient have a behavioral health problem that adds a layer of complexity to their

hospitalization and creates additional risk to their health and safety, such as a psychiatric

diagnosis, suicidal ideations, or a history of substance abuse and dependence?  If so, are

they motivated to address these issues as part of the discharge plan?

 Does the patient and family and/or caregiver demonstrate good insight and awareness

into the nature and contributing factors that led to the patient’s hospitalization?

 Does the patient and family and/or caregivers have realistic expectations about post-

hospitalization and recovery?

 Are the patient and family coping effectively with the patient’s illness, hospitalization or

diagnosis?

 What behavioral health needs do the patient and family and/or caregiver need in order to

improve their functioning, enhance their hospital experience, or to ensure the patient’s

continuity of care upon discharge? (e.g. crisis intervention, brief grief counseling,

education about illness or diagnosis)

 Does the patient have an Advanced Directive or a Durable Power of Attorney?  Make

sure it’s on file and up to date.

 If the patient is a minor, are they eligible and meet the criteria for California Children

Services?

 If the patient is a minor, was the cause of the injury or illness the result of neglect or

potential abuse on the part of an adult or legal guardian?  While it is not our

responsibility to investigate and decide the causes of such incidents leading to illness or

injury, we are mandated reporters required to follow the state laws, which includes filing

a verbal and written report to California Child Protective Services.

221



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 

Scope: Case Management/Social Services Manual: Case Management 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date:  

Page 3 of 4 

 Any bio, psycho, social factors that have the potential to complicate a successful

discharge in a timely manner, or create risk to the patient for continuity of care.

C. Development  This process requires that the case manager/social worker take the results and 

findings of the evaluation and present them to the Interdisciplinary Care Team for additional 

information and get their input, based upon their assessments or observations.  

 All discharge plans will be developed in collaboration with the patient, the patient’s

family and/or caregivers, and the attending physician.  Discharge options will be

considered and reviewed.

 The patient’s family members and/or caregivers may attend a care conference so that the

care team can provide education and clarify goals and resources needed for an effective

discharge and continuity of care.

 The attending physician will provide clarity and leadership about anticipated time frames

for discharge and specific needs for the patient based upon diagnosis, recovery process,

the patients response to treatments and therapies, on-going medical needs, and continuity

of care.

 The case manger or social worker will take any new or additional information obtained

from the Interdisciplinary Care Team and incorporate it into the discharge plan.

 If the Interdisciplinary Care Team decides to transition the patient to a Swing Bed, the

case manager or social worker are responsible for providing written notice of transfer to

the patient and family that includes explanation for the decision and how this decision

will impact the discharge planning process.

 Once a plan has been developed and agreed upon by the patient (whenever possible),

their family and/or caregiver, and the Interdisciplinary Care Team the case

manager/social worker will document the plans under the Paragon Discharge Planning

tab and begin the Implementation phase of discharge planning.

 Discharge plans will be reassessed daily with the Interdisciplinary Care Team so that

changes in the care level or needs of the patient can be adequately modified in the

discharge plan.

 The discharge planning process will assess and take into consideration patterns or trends

that contributed to a patient readmission if prior hospitalization was within the last 30

days.

D.  Implementation  This process will be driven by the findings and results of the evaluation 

and will often include tasks such as: 

 Calling various skilled nursing homes seeking short or long term placement for the

patient, and making arrangements for patient transfers, along with relevant medical

records necessary to provide continuity of care.

 If the patient is returning home, referring for home health services or durable medical

equipment, if indicated.

 Researching alternative housing options if patient needs additional assistance but does

not meet the criteria for skilled placement.(e.g. Assisted living, or family members)

 Ensuring the patient and family are aware of all follow-up appointment for the patient.

 Collaborating discharge plans and patient’s post-hospitalization needs with other

community providers (e.g. Toiyabe clinic and case management services)

222



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 

Scope: Case Management/Social Services Manual: Case Management 

Source: Director of Nursing Practice Effective Date:  

Page 4 of 4 

 Making referrals for additional out-patient sources of support which could include

referrals for drug and alcohol treatment, on-going counseling services, resources for

homelessness, psychiatric evaluations, or other community based services.

 Provide education (within scope of practice) to patients and their family/caregivers

regarding rationale about discharge disposition, importance of adherence to discharge

plan, and follow up with aftercare.

 If neglect, abuse or safety issues meet criteria for mandated reporting, notify CPS or APS

with 24 hours.  Written reports must be completed within 72 hours, sent to the reporting

agency, with a copy filed in the patient’s chart in medical records.

 Daily documentation should be made in the patient’s electronic medical record indicating

progress made towards discharge plans or any changes or updates made to the discharge

plan. (See P &P on Documentation Requirements and Guidelines)

 Each patient will receive a Discharge Instructions Packet that will include:

A. Discharge instructions and directions related to discharge disposition.

B. New Prescriptions and medication lists with directions

C. Educational materials

D. Billing and insurance paperwork

E. Relevant community resources, including contact information for Skilled Nursing

facilities in the region, and home health services. 

 The Discharge Instruction Packet can be provided by the patient’s nurse, but it is the case manager or 

social workers responsibility to ensure that each patient receives a completed packet upon discharge. 

REFERENCES: 

1. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; CMS

Manual, Conditions of Participation 482.43(a) – 482.43 (e)

2. California Department of Public Health, Senate Bill 675: Hospital Discharge Planning and

Family Caregivers; Health and Safety Code section 1262.5, Chapter 494

3. The Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Critical Care Access Hospitals as published by The

Joint Commission; Standards PC.04.01.03; PC.04.02.01; PC.04.01.05

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 

1. Documentation of Case Management Services

2. Interfaculty Transfer Guidelines

3. Follow-Up Phone Calls Post Discharge

Committee Approval Date 

CCOC 2/27/2017 

UR Committee 2/23/2017 

MEC 3/07/2017 

BOD 

Developed: 4/2016 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supersedes: 

223



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Negative Pressure rooms  Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) 

Scope: NIHD Department:  CPM - Infection Control- Patient Care 

(ICP) 

Source: Quality Informatics/Infection 

Preventionist  

Effective Date: 

1 

PURPOSE: 

To provide a negative pressure room required for airborne precautions for patients known or suspected 

to have serious illnesses transmitted by airborne droplet nuclei. This room is also known as an AIIR 

(Airborne Infection Isolation Room) See airborne precautions policy.  

POLICY: 

1. There are 2 negative pressure rooms in Northern Inyo Hospital.  They are located as follows:

a. Medical surgical Acute-Subacute unit room 5, (this room has an ante chamber, new construction)

b. Intensive care unit room 1, (this room has an ante chamber, new construction)

c. The is a current Negative pressure room in the old facility being used by the Infusion unit, room

29-6, 1
st
 floor of the original building. Infusion Center room 6, (No ante chamber, old

construction)  

2. All patients with known or suspected serious illnesses transmitted by airborne droplet nuclei will be

placed in one of the AIIR rooms until at which time it is determined that they do not have an

airborne disease needing this type of precautions.

a. This will be determined by culture results or symptoms

b. See appendix A from the CDC located on Nursing and Physician desktop and attached for

duration of needed precautions, and Lippincott Procedures Airborne Precautions 

3. Each of the rooms on the 2
nd

 floor, MS Acute-Subacute #5 and ICU #1 will have a room pressure

controller.  This controller is designed to maintain a constant pressure differential.  It measures the

actual room pressure differential using TSI’s unique, bi-directional pressure sensor, and modulates a

damper or variable frequency drive to maintain set point.  The controller has audible and visual

alarms.  The negative pressure is always on.  The door to the room must always be closed.

4. Sputum Inductions will be performed in the Airborne Infection Isolation Room (AIIR) located in

ICU rm 1 or Acute-Subacute rm 5; attempt to use ICU rm1 first. If these rooms are unavailable

perform sputum induction in Infusion room 6.

DEFINTION:  

Airborne Infection Isolation Room (AIIR) - Formerly, negative pressure isolation room 

 An AIIR is a single-occupancy patient-care room used to isolate persons with a suspected or

confirmed airborne infectious disease.  Environmental factors are controlled in AIIRs to minimize

the transmission of infectious agents that are usually transmitted from person to person by droplet

nuclei associated with coughing or aerosolization of contaminated fluids.

 AIIRs should provide negative pressure in the room (so that air flows under the door gap into the

room); and an air flow rate of 6-12 ACH (6 ACH for existing structures, 12 ACH for new

construction or renovation); and direct exhaust of air from the room to the outside of the building or

recirculation of air through a HEPA filter before returning to circulation.

224



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Negative Pressure rooms  Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) 

Scope: NIHD Department:  CPM - Infection Control- Patient Care 

(ICP) 

Source: Quality Informatics/Infection 

Preventionist  

Effective Date: 

 

 

 2 

Wall panel: A panel located outside the ante chamber room that includes an audible and visual alarm to 

warn staff when pressurization is lost or drifts past the preset pressure value.  

  

 

PROCEDURE: 

 Be sure Ensure negative pressure setting light is green and there are no alarms in Acute-Subacute room 

5 and ICU room 1. Infusion Center room 6 smoke test done prior to use by the Maintenance Department 

 Don appropriate PPE for type of precautions while in the ante chamber prior to entering the room with 

the patient. All staff must wear properly fitted N95 mask or Purified Air Powered Respirator (PAPR) 

before entering room 

 Patient  should must have a surgical mask on when they are admitted to the room, or if they leave the 

room for a procedure 

 Admit patient as per any other patient 

 Keep door closed between room and ante chamber as well as between ante chamber and the hallway. 

 Post Airborne precautions signs on the anti chamber door as well as the door to the room itself. 

 All Donning and Doffing of PPE should be done in the ante chamber. 

 When the patient is discharged the room should be clean as for any precautions room. 

 If the Airborne Isolation Rooms loses pressurization and does not correct itself by closing the doors, the 

Maintenance Department must be contacted immediately.  

 

Monitoring AIIRs 

 The AIIR is monitored and documented Bi-monthly by the Maintenance Department for the 

Acute-Subacute rm 5 and ICU rm 1 

 Nursing staff will complete daily verification when a patient in Airborne Isolation is placed in 

Acute-Subacute rm 5 and ICU 1. This is confirmed by ensuring that the green light located on the 

wall panel is on 

 The flow-meter on the AIIR (Acute-Subacute & ICU) is checked yearly and if found to be in the 

yellow or red zone the filter will be changed by Biomed.  

 A smoke test will be done and documented monthly on Infusion Room 6 by the Maintenance 

Department 

 A smoke test will be done by the Maintenance Department on Infusion Room 6 with each use 

when a patient is place in Airborne Isolation 

 

   

   

Alternative to Negative Pressure Rooms: 

Airborne infection isolation can also be achieved by the use of Hospi-Gard Portable Filtration Units 

(H.G.U.). The portable units provide airborne isolation throughout Northern Inyo Hospital District. Refer to 

the Hospi-Gard Portable Filtration (H.G.U) policy and procedure.  

 

 

225



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Negative Pressure rooms  Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) 

Scope: NIHD Department:  CPM - Infection Control- Patient Care 

(ICP) 

Source: Quality Informatics/Infection 

Preventionist  

Effective Date: 

 

 

 3 

 

 

Documentation: 

 Document on the electronic record medical record when the patient was placed in precautions and that 

the negative pressure is on and working. 

 Document each shift on the electronic medical record that the patient remains in precautions with the 

negative pressure on and working. 

 Document each shift that correct isolation precaution signage is in place 

 Document on the electronic medical record when the patient is removed from precautions. 

 

 

References: 

1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009). Healthcare Infection Control Practices 

Advisory Committee (HICPAC). Retrieved from 

http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007ip/2007ip_glossary.html 

2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). 2007 Guideline for isolation precautions: 

Preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare settings. Retrieved from 

http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007IP/2007ip_appendA.html 

 

Cross References: 

1. Airborne Precautions in Lippincott Procedure 

2. Hospi-Gard Portable Filtration (H.G.U) 

3. Aerosolized Transmissible Disease Plan 

 

 

Approval Date 

CCOC 01/25/2017 

Infection Control Committee 02/28/2017 

MEC 03/07/2017 

Board of Directors  

 

Developed: 5-2011; 

Reviewed: 9/12bs 

Revised: 1/2017 RC  

Supersedes: Negative Pressure Room   

Index: Negative Pressure room, airborne precaution room 

226

http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007ip/2007ip_glossary.html
http://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007IP/2007ip_appendA.html


NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title:  Respiratory Syncytial Virus  (RSV Policy 

Scope: NIHD Manual: CPM-Infection Control-Patient Care (ICP) 

Source: Quality Nurse/Infection Control 

Preventionist 

Effective Date: 

Page 1 of 2 

PURPOSE: 

 To immediately isolate patients with known or suspected RSV infection, to help prevent 

exposure and spread of RSV to patients, visitors and staff members.  

POLICY: 
1. RSV should be suspected in any small child admitted with respiratory problems during

the winter months of October through April. 

2. RSV test is recommended for all children admitted under the age of 5 with respiratory

symptoms and precautions used until test results returned. 

3. Contact Precautions will initiated and maintained until RSV result is negative.

4. If RSV test is not ordered by physician the patient will remain in isolation until discharge

DEFINTION: 

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV): is a respiratory virus that infects the lungs and breathing 

passages. Healthy people usually experience mild, cold-like symptoms and recover in a week or 

two. But RSV can be serious, especially for infants and older adults 

PROCEDURE: 
1. Place patient in contact precautions

2. If patient coughing or sneezing staff are to wear a mask according to standard precautions.

3. Respiratory Therapy to wear N95 mask when administering nebulized treatments as per

the Aerosolized Transmissible Disease policy

4. Post isolation signage and place isolation cart outside patient room

5. Educate parents or legal caretakers on contact precautions and hand hygiene

6. Document in patient medical record

 Type of precautions contact

 Start date and time

 Type of teaching provided

 Precautions stop date and time if applicable

  PREVENTION: 

1. Gloves - for handling secretions and touching the contaminated environment i.e., side

rails, controls, etc.

2. Isolation Gowns – When entering the room if unknown RSV status.  If child has nasal

secretions and you are holding that child then gowns recommended.

3. Masks – as indicated under Standard Precautions.( If patient coughing then a surgical

mask is indicated within 3 feet of coughing patient)

4. Respiratory Etiquette  If age appropriate encourage patient to:

 Use cough or sneeze into his or her elbow and not hands

227



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title:  Respiratory Syncytial Virus  (RSV Policy 

Scope: NIHD Manual: CPM-Infection Control-Patient Care (ICP) 

Source: Quality Nurse/Infection Control 

Preventionist 

Effective Date: 

Page 2 of 2 

 Cover mouth and nose with tissue when coughing or sneezing, dispose of the used

tissue in appropriate waste receptacle, and then perform hand hygiene.

5. Hand Hygiene - after removing gloves; before leaving room.

6. Parents - must be informed of the need for hand washing to decrease contamination of the

environment, i.e., side rails, telephones.  Instruct family for the reason the child is in

contact precautions.  Instruct the immediate family that they do not need to gown but

that they must not walk around the hospital after being in the patient room and

should leave the hospital directly after leaving patients room.

REFERENCES: 
1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014). Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection

(RSV). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/rsv/

2. Guideline for Isolation Precautions: Preventing Transmission of Infectious Agents in

Healthcare Settings 2007 https://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007ip/2007ip_appenda.html

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 
1. Lippincott Procedure: Contact Precautions

2. Aerosolized Transmissible Disease (ATD)

Approval Date 

CCOC 1/25/17 

Infection Control 02/28/2017 

MEC 03/07/2017 

Board  of Directors 

Developed: 4/2007 

Reviewed: 
Revised: 9/2007; 2/10bss; 6/11CP; 9/12 BS; 11/15 NH, 1/17RC 

Supercedes:  

Index Listings: RSV 

228

https://www.cdc.gov/rsv/
https://www.cdc.gov/hicpac/2007ip/2007ip_appenda.html


NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

PURPOSE: 

 To remove dirt and oil on skin.

 To reduce microbial count at the operative site in order to decrease potential for postoperative wound

infection.

 To promote postoperative wound healing.

POLICY: 

1. All patients undergoing surgical intervention will have appropriate preoperative skin preparation.

2. The antiseptic agent used should be selected based on surgeon preference and patient assessment:

 The patient should be assessed for allergy or sensitivity to skin preparation agents

 The patient should be assessed for contraindications to specific skin preparation agents

 The surgical site to be prepped

 The presence of organic matter e. g. facial cosmetics, including blood;

The efficacy of antiseptic agents is dependent on the cleanliness of the skin.  Removal of superficial

soil, debris, and transient microbes before applying antiseptic agents reduces the risk of wound

contamination by decreasing the organic debris on the skin.

 Neonatal status

 Large open wounds

 A review of the manufacturer’s information

 Surgeon’s preference including use of antiseptic pre-op showers.

3. If preoperative showers have not been performed, a surgical wash should be done either in the

preoperative area or immediately before applying the antiseptic agent in the intra-operative setting.

4. The surgical site should be identified before the skin preparation.  This verification minimizes the

risk of prepping the wrong area, which could contribute to wrong site surgery.

a. Verification should be done in advance of the “time out” period, which occurs immediately

before the surgeon makes the incision.

b. The skin marker used to make the surgical site mark should

 not facilitate microbial growth, and

 provide a mark that remains visible after the surgical prep.

5. The patient’s skin condition should be assessed for the presence of lesions or other tissue conditions at

the surgical site before skin preparation begins.

a. The presence of scratches, exudates, open sores, or unintentional removal of lesions traumatizes

the skin at the surgical site and provides an opportunity for colonization by microorganisms.

5. Some anatomic areas contain more debris than others (e.g., umbilicus, under the fingernails, under the

foreskin).  Cleaning these areas separately from the surgical prep prevents distribution of

microorganisms from these areas to the surgical site.

6. The Umbilicus should be cleaned with Q-tips and prep solutions in any abdominal surgery.

PROCEDURE: 

229



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

  

 

PREOPERATIVE PREPARATION: 

 

       Hair Removal 

 A physician's order, including site, is required for removal of hair. When method of hair 

removal is not included in the order, a clipper shall be used to remove hair. 

 May be performed in the preoperative unit or in the patient's room. 

 Is avoided in the operating room except in emergency situations. 

 Is performed as close to the operative time as possible. 

 Is performed only by appropriately trained personnel. The face and eyebrows are not 

shaved unless specifically ordered. 

 Removal of eyelashes is accomplished with scissors. 

 Electric clipper shave is the method of choice for hair removal. 

 A razor should not be used to remove hair at the surgical site. 

 The use of a razor abrades the skin surface and enhances microbial growth. 

 

 Cleansing of open traumatic orthopedic injuries with exposed bone can be facilitated by pulse 

lavage, a high pressure parallel water jet, or brush-suction irrigation as per physician’s 

preference . Use of a protective shield is beneficial to avoid aerosolization of wound 

contaminants of onto the sterile field. 

 

INTRAOPERATIVE SKIN PREPARATION AGENT: 
 

A. Only hospital and FDA approved antimicrobial agents may be used for skin preparation. 

B. Criteria for selection skin preparation agent include 

 Effectiveness against broad spectrum of bacteria 

 Initial action and duration time of effectiveness 

 Ease of application 

 Potential for skin irritation 

 Cost effectiveness 

             C.  Intraoperative skin preparation may be performed by a registered nurse or the surgeon. 

 

CHLORHEXIDINE SKIN PREP: 

(Chlorhexidine gluconate solution 4.0 %) 

1. Obtain a disposable prep tray- pour 4% Chlorhexidine solution. 

2. Using sterile technique apply undiluted Chlorhexidine solution liberally to the 

surgical wound site, developing lather and scrub the area for at least two minutes. 

3. Dry area with sterile paper towel from tray then repeat the process for another 2 

minutes.  Dry with sterile towel. 

 When using this product: 

 Keep out of eyes, ears and mouth.  

  May cause serious and permanent eye injury if placed or kept in the eye during 

surgical procedures, or may cause deafness when instilled in the middle ear 

through perforated eardrums. 

  

230



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

  

 CHLORAPREP: 

 

Warnings: For external use only. Flammable, keep away from fire or flame.   

 

Do not use:  

 ChloraPrep on children less than 1 year of age age because of the potential for excessive 

skin irritation and increased drug absorption. 

 On patients with known allergies to Chlorhexidine and isopropyl alcohol.   

 For lumbar puncture or in contact with the meninges.  

  On open skin wounds or a general skin cleanser.  

 Directions: 

1. Before using this product see insert for important information. 

2. To reduce the risks of fire the following strategies are recommended: 

 At the end of prep, discard any portion of the solution which is not required to 

cover the prep area.  It is not necessary to use the entire amount available. 

 Use in a well ventilated area. 

 Avoid getting solution into hairy areas.  Wet hair is flammable.  Hair may take 

up to one hour to dry. 

 Do not allow solution to pool. 

 Tuck prep towels to absorb solution, and then remove wet materials from the prep 

area. 

 Drape after solution is completely dry. 

3. Maximal treatment area for one applicator is approximately 13.2 in. by 13.2 in.  Discard 

the applicator after a single use. 

4. Pinch the wing of the applicator to break the ampule and release the antiseptic.  Do not 

touch the sponge.  Wet the sponge by repeatedly pressing and releasing the sponge 

against the treatment area until liquid is visible on the skin. 

5. Dry surgical sites (such as abdomen or arm): use repeated back-and-forth strokes for 

approximately 30 seconds.  Completely wet the treatment area with antiseptic.  Allow the 

area to air dry for approximately three (3) minutes.  Do not blot or wipe dry. 

6. Moist surgical sites (such as the inguinal fold): Use repeated back-and-forth stroke of 

the sponge for approximately 2 minutes.  Allow the area to air dry for approximately 

three (3) minutes.  Do not blot or wipe away. 

 

POVIDONE IODINE SKIN PREP: 
 

1. Obtain a disposable prep tray, pour Povidone Iodine USP 7.5% scrub solution with 

0.75 % available Iodine in one basin, recommended amount is 1 cc per 20 square 

inches. 

2. Pour Povidone Iodine undiluted topical 10 % prep solution with 1% available Iodine 

into another section. 

3. Pour sterile water into another section.  Wet skin with sterile water. 

4. Using sterile technique, apply undiluted scrub solution liberally to the surgical 

wound site, developing lather and scrub the area for 5 minutes.  

5. Rinse scrub solution off the skin with prep sponges and sterile water. 

231



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

  

6. Apply a liberal amount of Povidone Iodine topical prep solution and allow to  dry. 

  

VAGINAL PREPS: 
Patients having vaginal surgery shall be prepped with Povidone Iodine prep solution in the 

vaginal vault, and Povidone Iodine scrub diluted with water on the labia and vaginal mucosa. 

Use two sponges soaked in Povidone Iodine prep solution on sponge stick to swab the vagina, 

(surgeon preference). 

Povidone Iodine Scrub solution or Chlorhexidine solution is not used inside the vaginal 

vault. 

 

PRECAUTIONS: Always assure the patient has no allergies to Iodine before using. 

 If the patient is allergic to Iodine a Techni-care (Chloroxylenol 3%) vaginal prep can be used.  

Technicare is safe for usage on mucous membranes. 

 

 POVIDONE IODINE OPHTHALMIC PREPS: 

 (Betadine 5%) 

            Make sure container is intact before use.  To open completely twist off tab, do not    

            pull off.  Gently squeeze entire contents of bottle into a sterile prep container. 

 

While patient is still in the preoperative unit, instill two Proparacaine drops into the affected eye 

per physician order. Confirm operative eye by visibility of the colored dot and  verbally with the 

patient prior to installation of drops . 

 

1. Place sterile Ophthalmic Povidone Iodine (Betadine 5% solution) into prep tray - Do not 

dilute - place 1cc syringe in tray. 

2. Saturate sterile prep sponge to prep lids, brow and cheek in a circular ever-expanding fashion 

until the entire field is covered. 

3. While gently separating the lids, irrigate the cornea, conjunctiva and palpebral fornices with 

3-4 drops of  Betadine 5% Sterile Ophthalmic prep solution using a sterile syringe. 

4. Saturate sterile cotton-tipped applicator (Q-tip) to prep lashes and lid margins. 

 One Q-tip while eye is closed, cleaning both upper and lower lids. 

 Open eye slightly by placing finger under brow and using two Q-tips prep upper lid with 

one and lower lid with one. 

 Use last Q-tip to prep closed lids once again. 

5. Repeat sterile prep sponge to prep lids, brow and cheek in a circular ever-expanding fashion 

until the entire field is covered. 

6. After the Betadine solution has been left in contact for two minutes, sterile BSS solution in a 

three ml syringe from the surgical technician should be used to flush the residual prep 

solution from the cornea, conjunctiva, and the palpebral fornices. 

7. Repeat sterile prep sponge to prep lid after rinsing with BSS. 

8. With dry sponge gently pat the eye dry so the drape will stick. 

9. If the patient is allergic to Betadine solution: 

 Prep outside of the eye and eye lids with normal saline solution as described above. 

 Use Vigamox 0.5% Antibiotic Solution and instill 3-4 drops in the affected. Do Not 

Rinse.  

 
232



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

  

DURAPREP SKIN PREP: 

 

1. For patients who have not had a preoperative skin scrub in holding room i.e.; trauma 

patients with traction or fractured hips and emergency patients please follow these 

guidelines when utilizing Duraprep.  

2. Obtain a disposable prep tray, pour Povidone Iodine scrub solution or Chlorhexidine 

in one basin, diluting with sterile water. 

3. Open Duraprep package onto sterile prep field. 

4. Using sterile technique apply scrub solution liberally to the surgical wound site, 

developing lather and scrub the area for at least 3 minutes. 

5. DRY AREA with sterile paper towel from tray then apply the Duraprep solution 

according to following procedure. 

 

APPLICATION OF DURAPREP  
 

1. For surgical wounds that have been previously cleaned in holding room. 

2. Place kit on table and open hospital wrap. 

3. Duraprep solution is water insoluble; therefore avoid contact with reusable items 

(such as basins and instruments). 

4. To assemble, invert applicator. With sponge face down, press the cap end of the 

applicator. Prep will flow into the sponge. 

5. Clean umbilicus with swabs when applicable (moisten swabs by pressing against 

prep-soaked sponge applicator) 

6. Use sponge applicator to paint operative site. Begin when fluid level reaches indicator 

line on the applicator barrel. It is not necessary to scrub. (Simply paint a single 

uniform application.) 

7. If pooling occurs, immediately blot with sponge applicator and continue to apply a 

uniform application. 

8. Once a uniform coating is applied, allow Duraprep solution to dry thoroughly 

(approximately 2-3 minutes). Do not blot. As it dries, Duraprep solution turns from a 

shiny to a dull appearance alerting the user that the solution is no longer flammable. 

9. Discard applicator. 

10. Begin draping only after Duraprep solution is dry. If incise drapes are used, apply 

directly to dry prep. On completion of surgical procedure, removal of incise drape 

will remove Duraprep film. 

11. Duraprep film is intended to be left on the skin and gradually wear away. 

12. If desired, prep can be removed with 3M 8610 or 8611 Remover lotion, or with 

alcohol saturated gauze. Apply dressing following standard practices. 

 

PRECAUTIONS: 

For external use only. 

Duraprep surgical solution contains alcohol which is flammable. Until dry, do not use around 

spark flame (i.e., electrocautery).Use in well-ventilated area. Do not use in or near eyes. 

Isopropyl alcohol is a moderate eye irritant. If product gets into eyes, flush immediately with 

water. 

233



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

  

Avoid using Duraprep in the ears or on mucous membranes. Not recommended for use on 

patients with known sensitivity to Iodine.  

            NOT RECOMMENDED FOR USE ON CHILDREN UNDER 1 YEAR OF AGE 

 

 

 TECHNI-CARE (Chloroxylenol 3%) SKIN PREP: 

 

Techni-care is a broad spectrum topical antiseptic microbicide for professional degerming.  

Techni-care is safe for usage on mucous membranes. 

1. For Preoperative Skin Preparation-  

a) Obtain a disposable prep tray, squirt desired amount of Techni-care into well of tray. 

Do not dilute. 
 Apply Techni-care liberally to surgical site and swab for 2 minutes.  

 Allow to Air Dry 

 Techni-Care can be used for a vaginal prep 

 

2. For wound care and general skin cleansing (not surgical preps) - Rinse area with water, 

apply Techni-care and cleanse gently.  Rinse thoroughly. 

 

 GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

 

1. Only non countable sponges may be used for skin preparation. 

2. For intact skin, preparation begins at the incision site and progresses to the periphery. 

3. Sponges used to cleanse areas at the periphery are not returned for use at the incision site, 

the prep is continued with a new sponge each application. 

4. Method for application and exposure time are noted above. 

5. Area should be large enough to avoid wound contamination by inadvertent movement of 

drapes during the procedure. It should accommodate an extension of the incision, the 

need for additional incisions, and all drain sites. 

6. The prep solutions should be applied in a manner that prohibits pooling beneath the 

patient, tourniquet, electrodes, or electrosurgical disperse pad. The patient can experience 

chemical burns if pooling occurs. 

7. The prep solution should be allowed to air dry before drapes are applied. Use protective 

measures to prevent skin and tissue injury due to prolonged contact with skin prep agents.  

Chemical burns and skin irritation are more likely when antiseptic solutions are not 

allowed to dry and remain in contact with the skin for prolonged periods of time.  

8. Check for pooling on or under the patient e.g., soaked linen, soaked adhesive tape, drips 

on padding under tourniquet cuffs, solution running off surgical sites and onto patient’s 

backs, epidural prep sites.  Remove and replace the soaked articles. Use gauze to wick 

pooling.   

 Wash off the Povidone Iodine prep solution after the epidural procedure is 

finished. 

 Wash off the Povidone Iodine prep solution when surgical procedure is finished. 

9. When the incision site is more highly contaminated than the surrounding skin:  

234



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Skin Preparation in the Perioperative Unit 

Scope: Surgery Manual:  Surgery - ICP 

Source: Perioperative Director of Nurses Effective Date: 

 If a highly contaminated area is part of the procedure, the area with a lower

bacterial count is prepped first, followed by the area of higher contamination, as

opposed to working from the incision site toward the periphery.

10. The prepared area of skin should extend to an area large enough to accommodate

potential shifting of the drape fenestration, extension of the extension, the potential for

additional incisions, and all potential drain sites.

11. To prevent surgical fires, flammable prep agents must be thoroughly dried and vapors

dissipated before applying drapes.

DOCUMENTATION OF SKIN PREPARATION: 
Documentation of skin preparation will include: 

 Area prepped

 Method of hair removal

 Type of solution used

 Person performing skin prep

 Condition of skin before and after prep.

REFERENCE:     Manufacturer Literature for each prep solution. 

Manual of Operating Room Management  

AORN Standards and Recommended Practices for Perioperative Nursing 

JCAHO IC.02.01.01 and Title 22 Standards 70739 

CROSS REFERENCE: 

1. Preoperative Skin Preparation

Committee Date 

CCOC 12/12/16 

Infection Control Committee 02/28/2017 

MEC 03/07/2017 

Board of Directors 

Developed: 5/97 BS 

Revised:  1/98 BS 02/01BS; 6/2011BS, BS 9/12, BS 10/2016 

Index listings: Skin preparation / Prep  

235



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

1 

PURPOSE:  

To assure the daVinci instruments, accessories and endoscopes are properly cleaned, disinfected and 

reprocessed. 

POLICY: 

All  daVinci instrument and endoscopes will be cleaned and reprocessed utilizing this procedure to assure 

patient safety. Only perioperative/sterile processing personnel who have been appropriately trained on the 

cleaning and reprocessing of daVinci instruments, accessories and endoscopes will be responsible for 

reprocessing of daVinci equipment. 

Sterile Processing personnel will complete the training modules/competency validation on the daVinci website 

relating to the cleaning, disinfection and sterilization of daVinci instrumentation and endoscopes.  

PROCEDURE: 

For reusable EndoWrist instruments, accessories, and endoscopes that require sterilization. 

Before first use and immediately after each procedure, the devices must be cleaned and sterilized. 

Unless specifically stated otherwise, only pH-cleaning agents must be used at all times during the cleaning 

process. 

Do not allow debris to dry on or inside the device intraoperatively. 

In order to keep the device from drying when soiled, keep the device in water or an enzymatic bath between 

surgical procedure and reprocessing. 

EndoWrist Instruments: 

1. Location of Flush Ports:

Instruments that employ a disposable tip and/or tip accessory require disassembly before

cleaning, disinfection and sterilization.

236



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 2 

2. Cleaning the Instrument:   

             

 

237



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 3 

 

  

238



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 4 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

239



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

5 
240



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

6 
241



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 7 

 

 

 

242



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 8 

 

 

243



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 9 

 

 
 

 

244



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 10 

 
 

 
 

 

 

245



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 11 

 

 

 

246



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 12 

 
 

 

Cleaning and Sterilization of the Stapler System 

 
 

 

247



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 13 

 

248



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 14 

 
 

249



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 15 

 
 

 

 

 

250



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 16 

 

 

251



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 17 

 
 

 

 

 

 

252



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 18 

 
 

253



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 19 

 

254



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 20 

 
 

 

 

 

255



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 21 

 

256



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 22 

 
 

257



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 23 

 
 

258



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 24 

 

259



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 25 

 
 

 

260



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 26 

 
 

 

 

261



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 27 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

262



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 28 

 
 

 

263



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

 

 

 29 

 

264



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Scope:  Sterile Processing Manual: Infection Control Blue Manual, Sterile 

Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date: 

30 

REFERENCES: 

Intuitive Surgical Reprocessing Instructions for daVinci Instruments, Accessories, Stapler 45 and 

Endoscopes 

AORN Guidelines for Perioperative Services (Sterilization and Disinfection) 

AAMI ST79;7.5

JCAHO IC.02.02.01, Title 22; 70833 

Approval Date 

NEC 11-5-2016 

Infection Control Committee 02/28/2017 

MEC 03/07/2017 

Board of Directors 

Responsibility for review and maintenance: Perioperative DON 

Index listings: Cleaning and Processing daVinci Instruments, Accessories and Endoscopes 

Developed: 11/2016 BS 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supercedes: 

265



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

  

     

I. PURPOSE 

The fern test detects the leakage of amniotic fluid. Premature rupture of membranes 

(ROM) can lead to fetal infection and subsequent mortality. Detection of membrane 

rupture and induced labor can eliminate this risk. 

 

II. PRINCIPLE 

The fern test is based upon the ability of amniotic fluid to form a microscopic crystalline 

pattern suggestive of fern leaves when the fluid specimen is allowed to air dry on a glass 

slide. The phenomenon is due to the interaction of high concentrations of electrolytes and 

protein in amniotic fluid relative to other fluids that may be present in the posterior 

vagina. 

 

III. SCOPE 

The procedure is performed in the perinatal department by physicians, mid-level 

practitioners and registered nurses (RN) who have been trained and maintain competency 

in this moderately complex procedure. 

 

IV. REAGENTS, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS 

1. Gloves 

2. Sterile vaginal speculum 

3. Sterile swab 

4. Microscope 

a. Care of the microscope provided for fern testing is important but also quite 

simple: 

i. Cover the microscope when not in use primarily to protect the 

objectives and oculars from dust accumulation 

ii. Clean the objective lens following each use with the lens cleaner 

and lens paper provided; NOTE: Do not use a dry cloth, “Kleenex” 

or gauze when cleaning the lens; this will generally scratch the 

sensitive glass surfaces 

iii. Keep the10x objective lens free from oil at all times 

b. Weekly maintenance of the microscope by competent staff: 

i. Clean dust in microscope area 

ii. Clean oculars with lens cleaner and lens paper provided; dry with a 

clean, dry lens paper 

iii. Clean stage with a suitable cleaner, e.g. tissue wipes moistened 

with deionized water or alcohol wet wipes, then dry with tissue 

wipes 

iv. Clean condenser with lens paper and lens cleaner provided, then 

dry condenser with dry piece of lens paper 

v. Record date and initial of person who performed maintenance on 

the microscope maintenance log 

vi. Laboratory director or designee will review and sign the 

microscope maintenance log monthly 

266



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

  

     

vii. Maintenance logs will be kept for a minimum of two years 

c. Annual inspection/Preventative maintenance (PM) of the microscope by a 

specialist will be arranged by the laboratory 

i. Document action taken with date and signature of authorized 

personnel 

ii. Inspection/PM records are kept for a minimum of five years 

d. Repairs: 

i. Necessary repairs will be performed by a service professional 

ii. Document action taken with date and signature of authorized 

personnel 

iii. Repair records will be kept for a minimum of five years 

5. Clean microscope slide -- do NOT leave fingerprints on slide; this can cause a 

false positive 

6. Commercial lens paper and lens cleaner 

7. Tissue wipes, e.g. Kimwipes 

8. Biohazard container 

 

V. QUALITY CONTROL 

1. This provider-performed microscopy procedure (PPMP) is classified as 

“moderately complex”. Control materials are not available to monitor the entire 

testing process. Testing personnel are required to maintain competency. 

2. To confirm the tester’s ability to recognize the ferning crystallization pattern 

characteristic of dried amniotic fluid a second trained and competent RN 

examines the dried smear.  Results of both RNs must agree and are recorded on 

the patient log. 

 

VI. SPECIMEN 

1. Acceptable specimens 

a. Fresh vaginal pool samples collected with a sterile swab according to 

procedure and labeled with patient name, date of birth, date/time collected 

and initials of collector 

2. Unacceptable specimens 

a. Samples over one hour old 

b. Unlabeled specimens 

c. Specimens contaminated by blood, urine, cervical mucus, semen or 

alkaline antiseptic solutions -- these contaminates may cause false positive 

results (Note, the presence of meconium indicates ruptured membranes) 

d. Specimens contaminated with lubricant or antiseptic 

e. Specimens collected over 24 hours since rupture -- may cause false 

negative results 

f. Specimens collected when volume of leakage is small -- may cause false 

negative result 

3. Storage 

a. For best results, test specimen as soon as possible after collection 

267



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

  

     

b. Keep at room temperature until testing 

4. Collection 

a. Check patient ID by confirming two identifiers 

b. Explain procedure to patient 

c. Position the patient in the dorsal lithotomy position 

d. Avoiding the use of lubricant or antiseptic, place a sterile speculum into 

the vaginal vault; do not touch the mucus plug in the cervix 

e. Using a sterile swab, obtain a sample of the vaginal secretion from the 

posterior vaginal pool 

f. Label the swab container with patient name and date of birth, date/time of 

collection and collector’s initials 

 

VII. PROCEDURE 

1. Smear a thin layer of the fluid obtained on the center portion of a clean glass 

microscope slide; be sure the layer is thin; spread evenly 

2. Allow the slide to air dry for at least 5 – 7 minutes; do not wave or blow on the 

slide and do not apply heat to assist in drying 

3. Using a microscope, examine the dried smear under low power without a cover 

slip 

4. If ferning is difficult to locate, examine all fields on the slide thoroughly 

 

VIII. INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS 

1. If present, the amniotic fluid crystallizes to form a fern-like pattern due to the 

relative concentrations of sodium chloride, proteins, and carbohydrates in the 

fluid 

 

IX. RESULTS 

1. Positive = presence of a fern pattern indicates the presence of amniotic fluid and 

ROM 

2. Negative = absence of a fern pattern indicates the absence of amniotic fluid and 

ROM 

 

X. REPORTING 

1. Record the presence of “ferning” or “no ferning” on the “Fern Test Patient Log” 

with the patient’s name, date of birth, date of testing, initial of testing personnel 

and QC results 

2. Record the presence of “ferning” or “no ferning” on the patient’s medical record 

chart 

3. Include the date/time, and name of person performing the test 

 

XI. REFERENCES 

1. Addison, Lois Anne. Laboratory Medicine, July 1999. P.451 

2. University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center, Fern Test Procedure 

3. UCSF POC Fern Test Procedure, June 2013 

268



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

  

     

4. “Amniotic Fluid Fern Testing”; Family Birthing Suites – the Finley Hospital, 

20040515 S. Raymond; United Clinical Laboratories Technical Director/CIO 

January 1, 2007 (HR.3.10 in the Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for 

Laboratory and Point-of-Care Testing) 

 

Approval Date 

Medical Director of the Laboratory 2/28/17 

CCOC 2/27/17 

Peri/Peds Committee 3/01/17 

Medical Executive Committee 3/07/17 

Board of Directors  

 

Developed: 2/17 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supersedes: 

 

269



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

          

     

I. PURPOSE 

CLIA ’88, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), and the State of 

California laboratory regulations require that all laboratories have on-going mechanisms 

to monitor accurate patient test management. Fern testing is categorized as “moderately 

complex” testing. Therefore all individuals performing fern testing or overseeing fern 

testing performed by trainees, are  required to successfully complete training and show 

that they are proficient in test procedure and reporting test results. 

    

II. PROCEDURE 

All testing personnel are trained and evaluated for competency on the fern test including 

pre-analysis, analysis and post-analysis components. When new test methodology or 

instrumentation is instituted, employees are retrained and reevaluated. The Point of care 

(POC) coordinator and department supervisor will develop a program for competency 

assessment and acceptability standards based on the training protocol, procedure manual, 

and departmental policies. Supervisors and managers will evaluate common group 

deficiencies, review current policies and procedures and take corrective action to improve 

performance. 

 

 A.   Training and Orientation 

1. All trainees will read the policy and procedure 

2. Orientation/Training on the test system will be provided through demonstration 

3. Successful orientation will be evaluated by use of a written test and initial 

competency  

assessment 

4. Training will be provided by competent training staff 

5. Personnel qualified to perform training is clinical staff with at least 1 year 

experience in fern testing and documented training and competency 

6. Orientation and training is documented on a training checklist and filed in the 

POC department and kept for a minimum of 2 years; a copy of the document(s) is 

placed in employee personnel file 

 

B.   Competency 

Competency for fern testing is assessed at the time of orientation, followed by a 6 month 

and 12 month evaluation and annually thereafter or as needed. 

1. Competency for fern testing is assessed using all of the following six methods: 

a. Direct observation of routine patient test performance, including patient 

preparation, specimen handling, processing and testing 

b. Monitoring recording and reporting of test results 

c. Review of worksheets, QC records and preventative maintenance records 

d. Direct observation of performance of microscope maintenance and 

function checks 

e. Assessment of test performance through testing external PT samples or 

testing previously analyzed specimens (blind testing) 

2. Assessment of problem solving skills by use of a written test 

270



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

          

     

3. Independent performance with no to little additional support is considered 

successful 

4. Successful performance is equal to or greater than 80% correct for the written test 

5. Competency is assessed by a qualified designee 

6. Personnel qualified to observe and assess competency are competent clinical staff 

with at least 1 year experience in fern testing 

7. Observed competency is documented on a competency checklist and filed in the 

POC department and kept for a minimum of 2 years; a copy of the document(s) is 

placed in employee personnel file 

 

C.   Online Competency 

NIHD’s POC department utilizes an on-line competency challenge program hosted by the 

University of Washington. A link to this program along with additional instructions on 

how to log into the program is sent via email by the POC team. There are approximately 

five questions and 80% of the questions must be answered correctly to pass. 

 

D.   Proficiency testing 

The POC department contracts with the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene (WSLH), 

a CMS approved proficiency testing program that meets regulatory requirements for 

variety and frequency of testing. Proficiency testing will be conducted bi-annually and 

consists of two images (paper and online version). 

1. Proficiency samples are rotated among testing staff who perform patient testing 

2. Testing personnel tests the proficiency samples the same way that patient samples 

are tested 

3. The staff who perform the proficiency testing and the medical director and/or 

technical  

coordinator sign attestations documenting that proficiency samples were tested in 

the same manner as patient specimens 

4. Testing personnel reports proficiency sample results the same way that patient 

samples are reported 

5. Proficiency records are kept for two years; proficiency performance evaluations 

are kept for 5 years 

6. A failure is unsuccessful performance in an event and warrants an investigation 

using the  

“Proficiency Testing Checklist for Corrective Action”; the investigation is 

documented and records are kept for 5 years 

 

III. CORRECTIVE ACTION 

Retraining and reassessment of employee competency must occur when problems are 

identified with employee performance. 

 

A. Criteria for Remediation 

Authorized training staff will perform remedial training for the following reasons: 

1. When testing personnel fails an assigned proficiency test(s) 

271



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

          

     

2. When deficiencies are being observed during competency assessment; this will be 

at the  

discretion of the authorized preceptor 

3. When deficiencies are being observed during routine patient testing; this will be at 

the discretion of the supervisor 

4. When an individual fails to comply repeatedly with testing and/or QC 

requirements 

5. When testing staff is non-compliant with regulatory requirements after reasonable 

attempts of contact have been made by the supervisor and/or POC staff 

 

B. Retraining and Reassessment 

After determination that remediation is required, the following process will be initiated: 

1. Department supervisor and/or director of nursing will be notified that individual 

will require retraining and that he/she is prohibited to perform fern testing until 

remediation is complete 

2. Competent staff will review data and determine if instrument malfunction may 

have contributed to the problem 

3. Authorized training staff will conduct remediation training that will include: 

a. Review of test procedure 

b. Review of QC logs to determine if staff performs QC correctly 

c. Observation of specimen collection 

d. Observation of specimen testing; if possible this will be done using 

specimens that the trainer observed the testing staff collect 

e. Successful completion of a written test 

f. Remediation will be documented and filed in the POC department and 

kept for a minimum of 2 years; a copy of the document(s) is placed in 

employee personnel file 

 

C. Non-compliance 

When it has been determined that staff is non-compliant with scheduling remediation the 

following steps will be taken: 

1. Notification of department supervisor, director of nursing and/or compliance 

officer that the individual may not perform fern testing effective immediately 

2. Privileges to perform testing will be revoked until staff has complied with 

retraining requirements 

 

IV. REFERENCES 

1. 2017 Comprehensive Accreditation Manual of Laboratory and Point-of-Care 

Testing, The Joint Commission, HR.01.06.01, EP 18 

2. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CLIA ’88 Final Rules, Federal 

Register, 1992, Subpart M, §493.1351 - §493. 1495, U.S. Government Printing 

Office, Wash. DC, Vol. 57, No. 40. February 28, 1992 

3. CADPH-Laboratory Field Services. Laws and Regulations Relating to Clinical 

Laboratories, Excerpts from the California Business and Professional Code and 

272



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Fern Testing  

Scope: Perinatal Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

          

     

the California Code of Regulations, Berkeley, CA, January 1, 1991 

 

Approval Date 

Medical Director of the Laboratory 02/28/17 

CCOC 02/27/17 

Peri/Ped Committee 03/01/2017 

Medical Executive Committee 03/07/2017 

Board of Directors  

 

Developed: 2/17 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supersedes: 

 
 

273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305




